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DEDICATION

There are some writers who are so good that you wish you knew them. I have never dedicated a book before to someone deceased, but in working on this project I came to deeply admire the brilliant prose, the scrappy courage, and the natural integrity of George Steer. So this book is, in part, respectfully dedicated to his memory.

It is also dedicated to the Ethiopian Patriots.

And it’s offered respectfully to the Ethiopian people, in the hope that I have done right by their history.
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FOREWORD

Mussolini’s unprovoked invasion of Ethiopia (then widely referred to by foreigners as Abyssinia), the only African member of the Geneva-based League of Nations; Fascist Italy’s use of poison gas in defiance of international convention; the duplicity of the League in banning the import by the aggressor of goods it could easily do without, while refusing to close the Suez Canal to the invaders; Emperor Haile Selassie’s journey from far-off Addis Ababa to Geneva by train, boat and plane, followed by his eloquent appeal to the conscience of the world—and “to history, to remember its judgement …”

These are memorable events of an earlier age: an age of duplicity, violence and aggression, which many of that time seem to have forgotten and later generations have never known. Many of the readers of my mother, Sylvia Pankhurst’s, pre-war pro-Ethiopian weekly newspaper, New Times and Ethiopia News, were among those who remembered.

Yet the story of those times is still alive in Ethiopia, as well as in Italy. In both countries voices of shock, sorrow, and remembrance have once again been heard.

Ethiopians and friends of Ethiopia learned in 2012 of a most alarming and extraordinary event. This was the erection in Italy of a monument to the notorious Italian Fascist commander, Rodolfo Graziani, at Affile, his birth place. He was one of two Fascist commanders in the Italian invasion of Ethiopia in 1935–6, the other being his rival and nominal superior, Pietro Badoglio. Both men ordered the use of poison gas in Ethiopia, but Graziani was also responsible for the shooting of Ethiopian prisoners-of-war in cold blood. He earned an even more terrible reputation for his policy of “indiscriminate terror” against the “natives” of both Ethiopia and Libya (which was also in its day under Italian military rule).

Many of us believe that events such us these are too important, and indeed too terrible, to be ignored or forgotten, let alone concealed. Humanity should learn from the crimes no less than the noble happenings of the past.

That is where Jeff Pearce’s writings on the Italo-Abyssinian War of 1935-1941 are invaluable, for they describe the workings of politicians and soldiers against the backdrop of international morality and justice.

Honoring Graziani, Mussolini’s henchman, today is tantamount to honoring the Duce himself. Graziani gave his full support to Mussolini’s infamous racial laws of 1938, and when the dictator was overthrown in Italy towards the end of the European war, Graziani became the Duce’s principal commander in the Fascist so-called Salo Republic. If we ignore the Graziani monument, the next thing may well be a statue to Hitler or Mussolini—and the next thing after that will be for people to seek to emulate these criminals’ handiwork.

It is with fears such as these that the articulate Ethiopian Diaspora community in London, Washington, New York, and elsewhere recently demonstrated, together with other victims of Italian Fascist and colonial rule. Rita, my wife, and I chose to demonstrate in front of the Italian Embassy in London, where we had twice earlier protested against the Italian Government’s undue delay in returning to Ethiopia the ancient Aksum obelisk that Mussolini had taken to Rome in 1937—and has since been duly repatriated.

Graziani was never tried for any of the many war crimes he committed in Ethiopia—or in Libya. After the war, in 1948, he was, however, sentenced in Italy to nineteen years imprisonment for crimes carried out in collaboration with the Germans against the Italian people—but he was speedily released.

The post-war case of Badoglio was no less amazing. After Mussolini’s fall from power, Badoglio surrendered to the Allies. He persuaded them to retain him as Prime Minister as a way of preserving a right-wing government in post-war Italy. Since it was evident that he could not be both Prime Minister and be tried as a war criminal, the trials were “judiciously” abandoned—and the British Ambassador in Rome was officially instructed to provide Badoglio protection against arrest by the new government. The result was that while many Germans and Japanese were prosecuted as war criminals, not one Italian was ever charged for any of the many war crimes known to have been committed in Ethiopia. The honoring of Graziani, the murderer of 1936–38, is thus the culmination of a series of events, the beginnings of which Jeff Pearce touches upon in this brilliant and unique study. There inter alia he formulates a revealing critique of the two European democracies, Britain and France, for denying help to Ethiopia in the mis-founded hope/belief that they could thereby alienate Mussolini from his principal ally and soul-mate, Hitler.

Richard Pankhurst


PREFACE TO THE PAPERBACK EDITION

When many of the events of Prevail took place, Richard Pankhurst was a little boy in the 1930s and early 1940s, playing with his Brownie camera in England as Hitler, Stalin, Mussolini and Franco cast their sinister shadows across Europe. It’s a bitter irony that just as this book is released in paperback, we are returning to a time when extreme right-wing organizations with unapologetically racist messages are on the rise—not only in Europe, but in America—and can longer be dismissed as “fringe” elements. I mention this, because no work of history should be read without considering the context of the times, not only of the era which it covers, but in which it was written.

But if our skies are steel-gray, forbidding and grim—and they may darken even more—it’s worth remembering that the boy with the camera saw that storm pass. He not only survived these “sterner days” (as Winston Churchill preferred calling them) and had his own cameo role in them, he would later be their first and most insightful chronicler regarding East Africa.

We lost Richard Pankhurst in early 2017. Having been in frail health for some time, he died from pneumonia. He was eighty-nine. That means we lost not only one of the remaining eyewitnesses to events, but the greatest historian Ethiopia has ever had. He was a giant in a field he virtually created himself in collaboration with his wife, Rita. There was no “Ethiopian Studies” before Richard Pankhurst. Sure, there were books about Ethiopia: some brilliant, some frankly terrible, a few bizarrely racist. Richard’s books brought a new caliber of insight and depth to examining the country’s history and culture. He formalized Ethiopian history as an academic field and then became one of its most prolific contributors—and its most prestigious. So it’s certainly appropriate that I also mark this new paperback edition by paying tribute to him. He helped so much in bringing the original book to life.

I was first introduced to him though a kind email by the other great historian of Ethiopia, Ian Campbell, and from the very beginning, Richard and Rita showed me the greatest kindness in helping my work on Prevail. Who was I? I was nobody! I couldn’t boast impressive professional credentials. But Richard, with a signature modesty, kindly pointed out that he himself originally had only a degree in economic history from the London School of Economics (as if that were a minor achievement!). It was clear he was a gentle, patient man of strong ethics and quiet conviction. This is the age of shouting, of noise, but Richard Pankhurst was from a politer generation, one that preferred to make its point quietly with evidence and facts and eloquent persuasion.

There is a great little story from his and Rita’s memoir, Ethiopian Reminiscences: Early Days, in which three years after World War Two, some unapologetic Fascists belonging to a “British-Italian society” in London began agitating to try to get Ethiopia back into Italy’s fold. Richard and his famous suffragette mother, Sylvia, were among those who showed up, and they weren’t having it. Sylvia spoke up and Richard asked some very pointed questions, which irritated the organizers. When he began passing out pamphlets on Italy’s war crimes, they ejected him from the meeting. But nothing more was ever heard again from that noxious little group.

Cut to decades later, and how from a wheelchair, he was still fighting for the country’s heritage, protesting back in London and working with the campaign to return the Aksum Obelisk, a story that is briefly referenced in the final chapter of Prevail.

We corresponded for something like a year or so, and to have his seal of approval in terms of his Foreword filled me with awe. I am still in awe. It’s only when I got my hands on my own copy of Ethiopian Reminiscences that I learned of this other gem of a story: he and his mother once went around to the London flat of Orde Wingate, who had just come back from fighting in Ethiopia. Wingate offered “a vivid account of the campaign” and Richard “was much impressed by his pent-up energy, which as he walked backwards and forwards in his small room, reminded me of a lion or tiger in the zoo at feeding time.” Wingate even outlined for the mother and son his strategy to capture Libya, and he very briefly loaned his official campaign report to Sylvia!

Imagine having this kind of access to one of the main actors in the drama. I had asked Richard by email if Sylvia had ever had much dealings with Anthony Eden and what she thought of him (his answer in part was that his mother didn’t discuss Eden much, but had never had a high opinion of him). Yet it had never occurred to me that he and Wingate had ever crossed paths. I am the fool for not considering the possibility. After all, Richard had conversed with an emperor and counted the great artist Afewerk Tekle among his many friends.

When I finally got to visit Ethiopia, I would end up in cabs, riding around Addis Ababa (when I couldn’t do any more marathon walks in the hot sun to save my cash), and in idle conversation with drivers, I would end up talking about why I was here and mentioning the great retired professor. “Richard Pankhurst!” people always softly exclaimed. They spoke about him the way you’d talk about a rock star.

I remember the day when Ian Campbell kindly drove me out to see Richard and Rita. Richard’s voice was soft, practically a whisper. He had been suffering for some time, of course, from Parkinson’s disease, but the great mind was of course still sharp, and he still answered my questions thoughtfully and like a master. It’s my deep regret that I never had the chance to go back and visit him. But he will live on in his books, and I am very glad that part of his legacy rests in these pages.

*  *  *

And now about these pages… This is a good-versus-evil story with a happy ending, and I chose my title, Prevail, quite deliberately. The word has special significance for many Ethiopians, but it also resonates with us. I wanted to combat an attitude that you still find with a few writers today, who pick and choose aspects of the war to treat it as if it were a political farce happening in a developing world backwater. Aside from this view being patronizing and offensive, it’s incredibly inaccurate. In 1935, the eyes of the world saw the war for what it was—a confrontation worthy of big headlines, a test battleground in the fight against dictators threatening the whole world.

I have also hoped that this book makes people recognize that Africa has more than fifty countries, and they all have far more to offer—both in their past and today—than the convenient narrative of famine, civil war, corruption and radicalism. There are uplifting stories, inspiring stories to be found on the continent, and this is one of them.

And I have hoped that readers enjoy this story as I intended it, a Technicolor epic that you can almost see springing to life between these covers, but one that is true, that defies the old Hollywood conventions of say Zulu or Khartoum, because in this case, the underdog heroes were the African men and women fighting for their country.

In Prevail, I uncovered some new findings, but the book is built mainly on the pioneering work of others. And scholarship over the war and liberation is still progressing wonderfully. Ian Campbell, whose kind assistance and his book, The Plot to Kill Graziani, were so crucial to this volume, has already written two more remarkable works: The Massacre of Debre Libanos and The Addis Ababa Massacre. Keith Bowers has written an invaluable book that focuses on Haile Selassie’s years in Britain, Imperial Exile. In fact, there hadn’t been a reliable full-scale biography of Haile Selassie in many years, but Asfa-Wossen Asserate, a prince of the Imperial House and a bestselling author in German, has finally filled that vacuum with King of Kings, which is now available in English translation. His fair and balanced chronicle helps to undo the outrageous fiction that has persisted, much of it due to the work of a charlatan named Kapuściński, whom I discuss in the second last chapter. And Imru Zelleke, an important eyewitness to the Graziani Massacre and a survivor of an Italian concentration camp, has at last released the chronicle of his own amazing life, A Journey.

Research on the Italian-Ethiopian War is a labor of love that’s even passing down to the next generations. In Prevail, you’ll meet Daniel Sandford, who played a key role fighting with the Ethiopian Patriots to counter the occupation. As of this writing, his great-granddaughter, Rebecca Dixon, is hard at work on a master’s thesis about the Patriots. She has made the remarkable achievement of tracking down and interviewing several of the surviving fighters, as well as relatives of those involved in the struggle.

It’s encouraging, too, that in February of 2015, the American ambassador to Ethiopia dedicated a reading garden at the US embassy to the memory of John Robinson, the “Brown Condor.” I wonder what this quiet, unassuming hero would make of such an honor, especially given how he once told off an embassy staffer for sticking his nose in Robinson’s business. I like to think he would chuckle at the irony.

There has been much made of the fact that the Great War, the Second World War and the Holocaust are passing quickly from remembered experiences into history, but little attention seems to be paid to how we’re also losing witnesses to influential conflicts that shaped Africa and Asia. In April of 2017, for instance, we lost Jagama Kello, retired general of the Patriots, whose daring adventures I describe in the chapters on the liberation. Will there, for example, be someone from the West who keeps alive the survivors’ memories from the brutal regime of the Derg in the 1970s? For the Derg were to Ethiopia what Pol Pot’s Khmer Rouge were to Cambodia, slaughtering thousands, and you can go view literal boxes of bones and skulls on display in the Red Terror Museum in Addis Ababa. If we do not record precious testimonies, we run the risk of the pernicious “Holocaust denial” over these events that some pro-Fascist revisionists have tried to bring to the Italian-Ethiopian War.

This is why the work of historians such as Ian Campbell, Andrew Hilton, Keith Bowers, Rebecca Dixon, Asfa-Wossen Asserate, Nicholas Rankin, William R. Scott, the late and greatly missed Christopher Duggan, and the man who inspired many of us, Richard Pankhurst, is so vital and so indispensable.

The extremists usually start by rewriting history. Consider this book a response to their efforts. It was written with the hope that the truth, like Ethiopia, will prevail.

Jeff Pearce

Toronto, June, 2017


NOTE ON NAMES

The Amharic language presents a minefield of transliteration for the hapless Western writer stepping into Ethiopia’s history. It’s compounded by the different ways that journalists and scholars spelled names and places in the 1930s. My one rule in struggling for consistency is to use what is most familiar to general readers and what would be best for reading flow. Hence: “Haile Selassie,” not “Haylä Sallasé.” “Djibouti” is still more familiar than “Jibuti.”

For Ethiopians, a surname in most cases comes first. For example, the ras known as Seyum Mangasha was known as Ras Seyum. But the traitor, Haile Selassie Gugsa, is best known as “Gugsa.” There are cases where some prominent Ethiopians became known in the West by English versions of their name, so for example it will be easier for a reader to follow on second reference “George Heruy” rather than his proper name of Faqada Selassie Heruy. Similarly, purists might object, but I refer to Warqenah Eshate most often by the name that Britons knew him best: Charles Martin. But I don’t want to take things too far—in this book, it’s “Emperor Tewodros” not “Emperor Theodore” as he’s been referred to by some historians.

I have tried to keep titles to a minimum to reduce confusion (Blattengeta, Blatta), but some, of course, are necessary, particularly military commander ranks, such as dejazmach and fitawrari). For Britain, I see no need to litter pages with “Sir So-and-So” or “Lord Huff-n-Puff,” and so I use these sparingly. Hence: “Samuel Hoare,” not his viscount name, “Templewood.” But the lord, E. F. L. Wood, was best known as “Halifax,” so he is the exception. Traditionalists in the UK are free to blame all this on my being Canadian.

Today, the term, “Galla,” is considered pejorative for the Oromo people, so it is only used in direct quotations.

For places, I have tried to err on spelling locales so that readers can find them in Ethiopia’s modern geography, but this isn’t always possible, given what the ages and the wars have done to these points on the map, once familiar in another era, now often obscure, at least to us in North America and Europe. And while several maps have been included to help the reader, they can never be an exhaustive resource for all the many spots featured in the narrative.

Hopefully, the reader will forgive me my trespasses.
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PART ONE

RESIST


INTRODUCTION

“The Lion of Judah has prevailed.”

—Slogan associated with Haile Selassie and with Ethiopia

They scrambled down into the pass, their thickly-callused bare feet ignoring the bite of the rocks and stones, their swords and spears held high. If they didn’t have swords or spears to carry, they would wield sticks and clubs. Some were armed with rifles, but these were often old, practically relics—their saving grace was the fact that they took a variety of cartridges. The buffalo-hide shields would do nothing to stop bullets, but they would block the bayonets slammed forward by the fierce askaris—native soldiers brown like themselves, born like themselves in the Horn of Africa, but now serving a colonial master. Unlike the askaris, most of the Ethiopians wore the traditional shamma, a toga-like garment that their ancestors had donned for generations. You could have painted the whole scene in oils like a war mural hung in London’s National Gallery, or preserved it in a sepia photograph …

Until the tanks rolled in.

And then it was no longer a vintage scene of colonial warfare; it was a grotesque tableau of anachronism. This was not a page out of the Book of Empire from the eighteenth or nineteenth centuries. This was December 1935.

At first, the more ignorant warriors took these strange, lumbering metal things for monsters and ran. But one of them, fearless and proud, circled around and jumped onto a tank, pounding on its tin shell casing. Machine guns were blazing away and slicing men in half, and still the Ethiopians swarmed and flooded their numbers into the narrow gorge of what is called Dembeguina Pass, overwhelming the enemy. When it was finally dusk, the men and their brilliant commander, Imru, would slip away with fifty captured machine guns.

Miles away—beyond the frontier with Sudan, beyond Egypt and Libya and across the Mediterranean—the original Strongman of Europe sat behind the desk in his cavernous office in Rome and fumed, his eyebrows knit in frustration below his stolid dome. Benito Mussolini was furious. This was not how his grand campaign was supposed to go. It wasn’t so much that the Ethiopians were winning—so far, overall, they weren’t. But they were not clearly losing. And the world watched and was amazed at the defiant courage of “savages.”

Hadn’t his armies practically strolled into enemy territory, easily taking towns in the north? And when his general in charge had vacillated, hadn’t he moved to act, replacing the old codger with his army’s chief of staff? But still the war was not the continuous triumph he longed for. A month before, a skirmish at a place called Ende Giorgis had made headlines around the world because the Ethiopians had gotten the upper hand there, too. They were not supposed to do well! They were only supposed to fight and bleed and die, and let the glorious new Roman Empire be born.

But a tiny man of five foot four—as self-contained as Mussolini was wildly expansive—said no. Haile Selassie, the Emperor of Ethiopia, the Lion of Judah, insisted that the age of white colonialism was past. His warriors were only fighting now because it was a last resort, and he would not break his faith in God and the assertion that men of noble stature should keep their word and play by the rules. African monarchs had said no before—and been ignored—but this king had such presence of dignity, such gentle eloquence, that he could not be so easily dismissed. He said no.

But more importantly, most of the world was listening and, for the very first time, was also saying no.

In London, outraged liberals tangled with Oswald Mosley’s Blackshirts, who naturally supported the invasion. Demonstrators in Toulouse, France, attacked a group of Italian sailors who wanted to go home to serve. Down in Accra, the capital of the British-held Gold Coast, about five hundred black citizens wanted to sign up to go fight for Ethiopia; in Cape Town, South Africa, six thousand black citizens turned up at a government office, wanting the same, to fight for distant comrades. Muslim Arabs in French and Spanish Morocco put together a small mercenary army, intent on crossing the Sahara and winding their way along the Upper Nile to go fight. Sympathetic Communists wreaked havoc in Mexico City, brawling with police armed with rifles. The Ethiopia Crisis could be felt as far away as South America and even touched Asia. The news was everywhere, inescapable, and the word was going out that Haile Selassie’s soldiers would not simply roll over and accept the inevitable.

In America, support was arguably at its highest. On a hot afternoon back in August, an estimated twenty thousand people had poured into the streets of New York’s Harlem neighborhood for the cause. Many of those in the throng had taken to calling themselves “African” in a remarkable show of black power before the term had even been coined. Here were African Americans marching in an age of barefoot children going to school, a time of “Whites Only” drinking fountains and back entrances at hotels, long before Black Panthers and the pride of Roots, before Marley and Mandela.

“This is no time to eat ice cream or peel bananas!” a speaker had shouted from the huge wooden platform. People were told to “listen to the speeches and donate as much money as possible.” Cheers went up as the Ethiopian tricolor of green, yellow, and red was waved in the crowd. Then came the shouting, the chanting: “Death to Fascism!” and “Down with Mussolini!” At the height of the Depression, it was no surprise that one poster read: SIXTEEN MILLION UNEMPLOYED WANT BREAD, NOT BULLETS. The founder of the organization Pioneers of Ethiopia, F. A. Cowan, told the sea of faces that as far as Mussolini was concerned, “We will show him that the American Negro is going right over into his backyard!”

It was a good line, a line that would make the papers. And many African Americans in the crowd would surely have believed it. They could picture themselves on Ethiopian soil, each with a rifle in his hands, fighting for their distant brothers. This same hope was shared by many in West Africa, and a collection of earnest radical expatriates in London and Paris. All of them, whether American or British, Jamaican or Kenyan, could not possibly have a clue what forces would be brought to bear to prevent them or anyone else from coming to Ethiopia’s aid.

*  *  *

For more than a year, the crisis would dominate Western headlines. Ethiopia was a member of the League of Nations, and under the League’s Covenant, members were supposed to defend the African country if it was attacked. The United States, however, was not a member of the League. Still, Franklin Roosevelt was finding it increasingly difficult to stay neutral, as riots broke out between blacks and Italians in New York. As diplomatic overtures would fail and tensions escalate, Great Britain would send its fleet into the Mediterranean, and Mussolini would respond by sending two army divisions to Libya to threaten Egypt.

It would prompt comment from great political leaders of the day, from Winston Churchill to Mahatma Gandhi to Leon Trotsky. Celebrities would weigh in, from George Bernard Shaw to Josephine Baker. It inspired poets, motivated a world-famous inventor, and was turned into a Broadway play that provoked controversy and US government censorship. The war would become business news when secret negotiations were uncovered between Ethiopia and Standard Oil. It would spill into the sports pages with a prize fight between Detroit’s Joe Louis and Italy’s Primo Carnera, becoming a symbolic showdown between black and white. For, in the end, this was how many blacks in America, as well as other parts of Africa—along with some whites in the United States and Europe—chose to see the conflict. For them, this would be the race war. It was a war that would change the world.

Across the Atlantic, more than a month before the mass protest in Harlem, the League of Nations Union had published its survey of more than eleven million people in Great Britain, a poll that eventually became famously known as the “Peace Ballot.” Among its five questions, it had asked if nations should use economic means to compel an aggressor nation from attacking another. Today, our shorthand for this is “sanctions.” More than ten million people had answered yes, and more than six million were willing to back up the economics with military measures. Every respondent had to know what example was being implied by a question of one nation attacking another: Italy versus Ethiopia. The results of the Peace Ballot clearly indicated that yes, the British public wanted peace, but not at any price. British citizens were willing to defend an ally.

But their government would eventually allow Mussolini to have his war. So would France. Roosevelt, anxious about the coming election in 1936, would refuse to involve the United States. Alone, Ethiopia would fight to defend itself, and against all odds, it would hold its own—for a while. Italian planes would drop poison gas on its soldiers and bomb Red Cross hospitals. Italian soldiers would commit atrocities that would never be deemed worthy of a war crimes tribunal. After 1945, the conflict was considered “another war,” distinct from World War Two, and not worth going back to investigate.

And the world would forget.

*  *  *

The war once mattered. To cite a superficial but interesting measure of its impact, consider Casablanca. In the film, both the French police captain, Renault, and the freedom fighter, Victor Laszlo, remind Bogart’s hero, Rick Blaine: “You ran guns to Ethiopia.” Everyone in the audience at the time knew what they were talking about. Laszlo asks rhetorically, “Isn’t it strange that you always happen to be fighting on the side of the underdog?” Ethiopia is mentioned in the same breath as the fight against the Fascists in Spain, raising it to the status of a romantic crusade.

The war did indeed once matter. For a brief time, it captured the world’s attention, stirring feelings of rebellion in Egypt and worrying the colonial masters of South Africa. The conflict would be the real beginning of the decline of the League of Nations that led to World War Two. Some people know this or were given fleeting references to the war in history classes. It’s presumed that the war’s only relevance is to the League of Nations. What many people don’t know is that an arguably far more significant development involving Roosevelt and America also affected events—and it, too, hinged on Ethiopia.

So the war is an important turning point in world history. It is African history, and not just because Ethiopia is in Africa. The war shaped the political mind of a continent in ways that so many of us have hardly noticed but that are crucial to understanding our events today. “I was seventeen when Mussolini attacked Ethiopia, an invasion that spurred not only my hatred of that despot but of fascism in general.”

Those words belong to Nelson Mandela.

In his autobiography, Long Walk to Freedom, he wrote: “Ethiopia has always held a special place in my own imagination and the prospect of visiting Ethiopia attracted me more strongly than a trip to France, England, and America combined. I felt I would be visiting my own genesis, unearthing the roots of what made me an African. Meeting the Emperor himself would be like shaking hands with history.”1

Africans elsewhere felt the same way. They quite deliberately called the nation “Ethiopia,” using the Greek word, and not “Abyssinia,” a Latin corruption of an Arabic label, “Habesha.” Whites—Europeans and European-descent Americans—used that term more often. Ethiopia was a fountainhead of legendary culture, where the obelisks and monasteries of Aksum rose in the same era as the Romans and ancient India. As a leading professor of Ghana would later put it, “If Ethiopians were the brothers of all black people then their historical achievements could be represented as the achievements of all.”2

It’s little wonder then that thousands of African Americans felt the same, and so the war is a crucial chapter in their history as well. For New York, Chicago, Pittsburgh, and Detroit, the capitals of black consciousness in 1935, Ethiopia indeed mattered. It held a spiritual significance for black Americans as an African kingdom where Christianity had flourished since the fourth century. And it was defiantly independent, smack in the middle of the colonial map. The great black historian, John Hope Franklin, wrote in his landmark work, From Slavery to Freedom: “Almost overnight, even the most provincial among American Negroes became international-minded. Ethiopia was a black nation, and its destruction would symbolize the final victory of whites over blacks.”3 Thousands of African Americans signed up with ad hoc militias to try to keep it that way.

Above all, this war is the story of a courageous people who, despite antiquated weapons and overwhelming odds, held their own against the Italians for as long as they could and came close to invading the Italian-held frontier of Eritrea. They were cheated out of the inheritance of a generation. Mussolini’s generals ruthlessly exterminated men trained to lead the country into the twentieth century, and the history of Ethiopia might have been quite different had they lived.

Which brings us to Haile Selassie, still held in far more esteem sometimes by foreigners than by his own people, and even the foreign view is often harsh in its judgment. He is overdue for a reappraisal, a task that is for the most part beyond the scope of this narrative. Still, some points regarding him will need to be made, because the war had far-reaching effects into the modern age and how the West treated Africa after the Second World War. Western opinion of Haile Selassie today is often based on now-discredited news reports and on the aftermath of a brutal Derg regime, while the reality of his character at the time was far more complex.

We are no better served by some historians today. In an aggrandizing chronicle of the adventures of an Italian cavalry officer in East Africa, Amedeo, Sebastian O’Kelly writes: “At the end of 1934, the Ethiopians and the Italians clashed over the wells at Walwal in the Ogaden desert on the border with Italian Somaliland. In spite of dark suspicions on both sides, the incident does not appear to have been orchestrated by either Rome or Addis Ababa.”4 This statement is inaccurate to the point of being ludicrous. The incident was indeed orchestrated by Rome, and as will be shown, the Italians were looking for a fight.

O’Kelly goes on to say:

It was serious, but it was not unprecedented; a month earlier the Ethiopians had killed a French officer on the border with Djibouti. But Haile Selassie’s decision to complain to the League of Nations turned the dispute into an international crisis … He may have already calculated that a clash with Fascist Italy was unavoidable at some time, and he might as well make the issue Walwal as any other, and milk the sympathy of the other powers as Italy was revealed as the aggressor.5

Such is the way modern writers can still blame the victim. As we’ll see, Haile Selassie wasn’t intent on “milking sympathy” and had very little choice but to appeal to the League. The Walwal incident was not a case for diplomatic opportunism on Ethiopia’s part; it was a response to Italy seeking a pretext for invasion.

About twenty years ago, Richard Lamb struck a disturbing chord right from the acknowledgments of his Mussolini and the British. He claims the period as “in part the history of my own times,” telling how he was “enthusiastic for the Peace Ballot and hostile to the Hoare-Laval Pact which I now consider sound diplomacy.”6 He criticizes Ethiopia for its slave trade while ignoring Haile Selassie’s efforts at reform, which have been well documented. “The proper course for the League … would have been to create a mandate for Abyssinia, and either divide it between Great Britain, France and Italy … or give the whole mandate to Italy as spoils due to her as a victor of the First World War … Such a mandate would have been in the interests of the inhabitants of the area.”7

The note of White Man’s Burden is jarring, but not exceptional, especially when the pervasive view of hopeless, unsalvageable Africa still infects Western reportage. Many correspondents have reflexively portrayed wars in Africa as tribal conflicts, but the bloodshed in Sierra Leone was about diamonds, and the killing in the Congo about coltan, the precious mineral used in microchips. Bill Clinton’s troops went to Rwanda and then abandoned it, and nothing is new under the sun. We have the more recent example of the “Kony 2012” debate, in which many critics pointed out distressing Western ignorance over the nuances of African politics.

There has not been a new comprehensive history in English about the Italian invasion of Ethiopia for thirty years. By this, I mean a history that covers all the aspects: Ethiopia, Italy, the long diplomatic squabbles in Geneva, the interest of African Americans and other black populations, all of it. Scholars have written about aspects of the conflict, and I am deeply indebted to many of them for allowing me to rely on their works, but there still hasn’t been a general work that encompasses the vast canvas of the war, nor one that details just how powerfully it changed the world. So, a new one is needed.

Whether my own particular effort is needed, the war itself still matters. The story told here is about a missed opportunity. In 1935, Britain, France, and America could have united to save an African nation. In doing so, they might have demonstrated to black people everywhere that at least a few whites were capable of a new enlightened consciousness, that they could change their ways and merited a new trust. It would have been something truly remarkable. Even with the contradictory nature of colonial nations such as Britain and France and the all-too-recent debacle of American slavery for the United States, white troops could have been allies to Africans.

The British would be liberators in 1941, which is not the same thing. In Khartoum, Major Orde Wingate was furious when Haile Selassie’s advisers managed to procure for him a traditional state umbrella and war drums, calling them ridiculous in a modern campaign. He insisted they be left behind.8 He could insist because Haile Selassie was an emperor who had been reduced to living in exile in Britain.

The world is now closer to 2035 than it is 1935, but the conflict of black versus white is, of course, still with us. Meanwhile, the United Nations’ peacekeeping efforts are viewed in many quarters as orchestrations of Great Powers, even as its predecessor, the League of Nations, was often considered a puppet theater of Great Britain and France. It would be overreaching to consider the war a mirror of our own times. Instead, it is a window looking out on the era that helped shape our own period, and indeed, the war still matters, as the United States is governed under its first elected African-American president and Ethiopia still struggles to find its way as an independent nation.


Chapter One

THE DUCE AND THE ETERNAL CITY

The man who promised to recapture the glories of ancient imperial Rome began his life with all the overt signs of being a sociopath. As a boy of ten, Benito Mussolini got himself expelled from a boarding school for stabbing a classmate with a knife. As a young man working as a substitute teacher at an elementary school in Gualtieri, he carried a metal knuckle-duster and once knifed his girlfriend. Boastful over his liaisons with women, he casually referred to committing rape in his autobiography.

Like Hitler, his past as a petty thug and indigent (he lived for a while in an abandoned packing case under a bridge) never really hampered his political rise. At heart he was a bully, and remained so throughout his political career, and like most bullies, he expressed his physical violence only in circumstances of the least risk. For his famous “March on Rome,” he had fewer than thirty thousand men to confront garrison troops in the capital, and while his hooligans destroyed printing presses, burned books, and looted shops, he bided his time until he could safely enter Rome. He gained power through bluff. King Victor Emmanuel III was misinformed that his army couldn’t match the Blackshirt numbers and backed down over signing a decree of martial law. Instead, he invited the Fascist leader to form a new government. So Mussolini didn’t march on Rome at all, but chose to arrive by train. Since soldiers had ripped up the tracks outside the capital, the king obligingly sent him a car for the remainder of the trip.

For anyone looking carefully into Mussolini’s evolution of political opinions and stances, the only pattern of consistency was in his opportunism. His blacksmith father had named his son after Benito Juarez, the Mexican revolutionary. Having taken on his father’s atheism, Mussolini the parliament member would label Christianity as “detestable” and demand the Pope leave Rome for good. As a revolutionary, he condemned Russia’s lack of free speech. As a dictator, he made Italy a state in which foreign correspondents were regularly harassed, and the only newspapers allowed to operate toed the government line. As a socialist, he was critical of Prime Minister Franceso Crispi’s ambition to move into Ethiopia; it was “the dream of a jingoist minister.” Once he became the Duce, the Horn of Africa was soon deemed practical and desirable.

His own personal vanity was boundless. He enjoyed being photographed in bathing trunks or in the company of athletes. He wrestled with lions for film cameras—lions that had been de-fanged beforehand. When rumors circulated that he was ill, he arranged for reporters to watch him horseback ride with wild abandon over hedges in the gardens of his Villa Torlonia. After this bizarre demonstration, he leapt off his horse and told them, “Now you can say that Mussolini is sick!”1

Mussolini, a man who in his youth loafed and hated working for others, paradoxically put in long hours as his nation’s leader. But he toiled within elegant surroundings—inside the Palazzo Venezia, a Renaissance palace that used to be an embassy for the Venetian republic. Visitors to see the Duce passed through a gauntlet of heavy security and were led into the splendor of Mantegna murals on the walls, while a polychrome chandelier hung from the ceiling. When the Duce received a group of foreign correspondents, as he did once in 1931, he strutted up and down in front of them like an officer inspecting a company of soldiers.

One of those foreign correspondents was not impressed. He was David Darrah, a reporter in his forties working for the Chicago Tribune. Darrah would have preferred that Mussolini stick to Italian, instead of trying to address the reporters in clumsy English, and the Duce’s famed magnetism had no effect on him. But Darrah did believe there was:

Something profoundly disturbing, tumultuous and intense about his personality, and about that face with its tawny, yellowing Tartar-like tint, and the short square figure … pacing back and forth as he swaggered and talked. One couldn’t help being aware of the fanatical religious patriotism that exuded from him. Afterwards I used to visualize him in memory as seated there at his work table with the bust of Caesar at one end; and I could think of him as a workman having the peninsula of Italy in miniature on his table and toiling and tinkering at it to change and transform it, with something of a scrupulous mania.2

Mussolini’s vision of Italy was ultimately another stage set. Unlike Hitler, he was not a benefactor of an “economic miracle” for his nation. Italy, especially in the south, stayed poor under Fascism. The trains ran better but, contrary to legend, did not always run on time. The Balila car, a cheap export for Europe, was not a credit to Fascist engineering, but Fiat’s. The regime’s grasp of economics seemed quite pitiful. Under Mussolini, a new ministry of corporations was created, and by 1934, it had declined into an ill-conceived muddle of twenty-two umbrella corporations for major industries.

To the Chicago Tribune’s David Darrah, the strategy boded something sinister:

In all my studies of the process of changing Italy’s economic system, which went on during the years I was there, of the transforming of it into state socialism and a national control of everything, it was never clear to me whether the ultimate purpose was to lead gradually to a form of state socialism and synthesize a new economic order which would be adaptable to normal times, or whether it was all a face to hide industrial mobilization and preparation of the country for war.3

*  *  *

David Darrah was one of those reporters who fell into his job. An Ohio native, he’d worked after high school in steel mills and rubber factories, and he served as a sailor aboard iron ore ships on the Great Lakes. After his service in the Great War, he became a correspondent in Paris by simply showing up at the Chicago Tribune’s office and asking for a tryout. By the time he was sent to Rome, he was a seasoned correspondent but, by his own admission, was naïve in assuming it would be business as usual in collecting news in Mussolini’s Italy. He wrote:

I wondered whether one could live in Italy and work in accordance with the principles that Cezanne proposed for impressionist painting—“to propose nothing, to impose nothing, just to expose.” That is to say, I was ignorant of Italy and I was not long in discovering that what I thought to do was not only impossible but illegal.4

Like Mussolini, Darrah also had a view to the heart of Rome from his office window, only his was from rooms two floors above the Galleria Colonna, an arcade where prostitutes and policemen, shopkeepers and petty thugs, actresses and businessmen all mingled and gossiped. The piazza was evolving into a miniature Italian Fleet Street. The editor of the Turin Gazzetta del Popolo, who was a sympathetic Fascist, kept his office in the Galleria instead of running his paper from his own town. The correspondent for the Hearst wire service was based down the hall from Darrah. The Press Association was located in the nearby Piazza San Silvestro.

Sitting at his typewriter, Darrah could watch the square of the Piazza Colonna, where meetings of Blackshirts were often held and where Mussolini spoke from the balcony of the Piazza Chigi before his move to the Palazzo Venezia.

It always seemed to me that could I have made a film of what went by my window there, I would have had a fair exterior record of seven years of Mussolini’s regime, for all the various manifestations of Italian life, as it was being shaped by Fascism, passed by in the innumerable parades that Mussolini proclaimed.5

For all its charms, Rome in 1935, to David Darrah, had only meager pretensions as a world capital, with more of the atmosphere of a large provincial town. “Its life went on in restricted circles and behind closed doors, for the most part, among the upper cliques. It was not exteriorized as was Paris or Vienna.”6 Baedecker’s guide to Rome and central Italy around this period informed its readers that Rome still had a considerable number of horse-drawn cabs. And throughout the Eternal City, casting spiritual and physical shadows everywhere, were the images of the Duce and Fascism. Mussolini’s face was plastered on thousands of posters and was even sported on women’s swimsuits. The Fascist emblem even appeared on manhole covers. Baedecker’s tactfully suggested the foreign traveler “should refrain from airing his political views” or taking photographs of beggars.7

Police and government operatives were everywhere. Agents could be restaurant waiters, landlords, hotel concierges, civil servants, or any number of coworkers who served as delatori, informers, for the police. And there were multiple police forces, from the uniformed ranks of Carabinieri, Metropolitani, and Militzie to the anonymous plain-clothes operatives of Italy’s own version of the Gestapo, OVRA. The acronym translated roughly to the “Voluntary Organization for the Repression of Anti-Fascism”—but the name hardly mattered, since authorities denied its existence.

Darrah writes of OVRA in 1936 with a degree of wary respect, calling the network of agents in cities such as Rome and Milan “so far as humanly possible, perfect.”8 An assistant told the American point-blank: “Of course, you are watched. All the correspondents are watched. But they try to do it nicely and unobtrusively.”9 There were occasions when it wasn’t so nice—deliberately so. The Tribune’s bureau in the Piazza Colonna was a regular target for break-ins, and correspondents for Paris and London were also harassed.

And the support or even silent compliance of Italians was not absolute. Anti-Fascists carried on bombing and terrorism campaigns in the middle of the decade, though the serious leaders of the movement were in exile in France.

Mussolini didn’t brazenly announce his intentions of war in a book like Hitler’s Mein Kampf, but when he addressed the Chamber of Deputies in May of 1926, he actually announced that the next world war would be in 1935, and that Italy would have to be prepared.10 By late December of that same year, he was telling a New York Times reporter that Italy’s colonies were “insufficient for our needs.” Banging his fist on a table, he warned that “the day will come when Italy … will demand her place in the sun!”11

“In my walks about the country I saw the youth in the small towns being organized,” remembered David Darrah, “and the hills about the towns resounded with the rifle and machine-gun practice as the piazzas echoed with war-like speeches.”12 By his own reckoning, Darrah estimated that Mussolini’s plans for Ethiopia began in earnest around 1932.

It was a shrewd guess, and one close to the mark. That year, Mussolini sent a special emissary to inspect Italy’s colonies in Africa. This was General Emilio De Bono, an elderly man with a white goatee whose career as a soldier had been less than spectacular. De Bono, however, was loyal, an officer who had thrown in his lot with Mussolini before Fascism became popular among the military, and who had helped lead the March on Rome. He went on to hold the office of Director of Public Safety, making the title a sick joke after organizing the torture and execution squad for the Fascists’ archrival, the Socialist deputy Giacomo Matteoti. In 1924, when the Matteotti case threatened to unravel the Duce’s power, Mussolini dismissed De Bono but managed to orchestrate his friend’s acquittal after a lengthy trial.

So by 1932, De Bono, having been restored to the inner Fascist circle, could return from Eritrea and report to his master that “if the Mother-Country was to derive the desired advantage from her two colonies, it would be necessary to abolish the vital inconveniences … To this end a careful and decisive political action was required.”13 The inconvenience was Ethiopia. The political action was war. De Bono’s report was for Mussolini’s benefit, but the world could take its own signs in 1932. Italy’s foreign minister at the time, Dino Grandi, called on the world to let Italy have an empire. And King Victor Emmanuel decided to pay a visit to Eritrea and Italian Somaliland.

By the autumn of 1933, De Bono was nudging his boss to have the top job for the Roman conquest. He reported in his memoirs:

One day I said to the Duce: “Listen, if there is war down there—and if you think me worthy of it, and capable—you ought to grant me the honor of conducting the campaign.”

Mussolini looked at me hard and at once he replied: “Surely.”

“You don’t think me too old?” I added.

“No,” he replied, “because we mustn’t lose time.”

From this moment, the Duce was definitely of the opinion that the matter would have to be settled no later than 1936, and he told me as much … It was the autumn of 1933. The Duce had spoken to no one of the forthcoming operations in East Africa; only he and I knew what was going to happen, and no indiscretion occurred by which the news could reach the public. [original italics]14

De Bono even suggested the idea they could exploit the “unruliness of the Rases” to incite a civil war, which would offer the pretext for Italy to intervene. (Ras was a title of Ethiopian nobility, often equated with a duke.) Of course, the strategy might backfire, De Bono realized, and chieftains on the Italian border could attack. So he wanted his forces prepared to withstand this and then be able to “go right in with the intention of making a complete job of it, once and for all.” According to De Bono, “The Duce thought as I did, and ordered me to go full speed ahead. I must be ready as soon as possible.”

“Money will be needed, Chief,” De Bono warned him, “lots of money.”

“There will be no lack of money,” replied Mussolini.15

Months passed, and then on the morning of May 24, 1934, with Blackshirts cheering him on, the Duce rode a white horse to the Piazza Venezia to make one of his rallying speeches. Wearing his iron helmet, he stopped to pose in front of statues of Caesars, and photographers were instructed to capture them in the background of any portrait shot. Then he headed off for his usual roost of the balcony in his office to address the people.

“The Italian infantry is now so developed that it can contend against any infantry in the world,” he told the crowd. “Better to live a day as a lion than a century as a sheep. Italy wishes peace but is ready for an eventuality. Are you all ready?”

“Yes!” the throng shouted back to him.16

Two days later, he famously informed the Chamber of Deputies, “War is to men what maternity is to women.” No, he did not believe in perpetual peace—the very idea depressed him. Italy needed to build up its naval and air fleets. The people had to forget about the idea of the good old days of prosperity. Sacrifices had to be made.

Then on December 7, 1934, David Darrah heard about a border skirmish between Italian and Ethiopian soldiers. “Somehow or other,” Darrah wrote in his memoir of Italy, “one seemed to sense immediately that here was the spark that was to set off a great chain of events.”17

*  *  *

It was supposed to be settled over a couple of beers.

In the beginning, there were representatives of the British, the Italians, and the Ethiopians all in a tent beneath a waving Union Jack with its flag pole stuck in a can.18 Here they were, trying to keep a lid on trouble, which was threatening to break out in the middle of nowhere. “Nowhere” that day was a place called Walwal, an oasis in the Ogaden region of Ethiopia, a massive expanse of scrubland and brush that forms a triangle in Ethiopia’s east.

For those who grow up and live in country like this, a flat landscape has a beauty all its own, but beautiful does not make it kind. Water is the key element for survival in this harsh territory, and wells are precious. Nomadic Somali tribesmen, their hair coppery red from the whitewash used to prevent lice, would step down an ingenious wooden frame that served as a set of steps into the deep hole of a well, dip their clay pots into the pool, and then pass them up the chain of hands. They would sing to their cattle, “Come and drink sweet water.”19 Somalis had been watering their camels and cattle like this for generations. It was far more important which family or clan owned a cluster of wells than where a line was marked on a map.

But because the Ogaden rested near British Somaliland, an Anglo-Ethiopian Commission was set up to map the frontier and survey the common pasture grounds. There was the small British contingent, led by a tall, blond lieutenant colonel, E. H. M. Clifford, who knew Ethiopia well. His tiny group had an escort of about six hundred Ethiopian troops, some in khaki uniforms with gray hats, others in shammas, the long white Ethiopian garment that resembles a toga. Many of the uniformed troops were barefoot, but all the soldiers carried rifles. The man in charge of them was a fitawrari (commander) named Shifferaw, who was governor of the region, but since he ran his administration from the town of Jijiga, he hadn’t seen this countryside for years.

The commission was actually on its way home. It had spent two years demarcating the territory, and it was slowly making its way back to Dire Dawa, where it could board a train that would mercifully chug along the last leg of their journey to take them back to Addis Ababa. There, a treaty would be signed that settled things between Britain and Ethiopia, at least as far as the Ogaden was concerned. When Shifferaw and Clifford showed up on the morning of November 23, 1934, they wouldn’t have been surprised to discover tribesmen from Italian Somaliland at the cluster of almost 360 wells. Ethiopia’s treaty with Italy from 1928 even mentioned Walwal by name, granting them access, because they were the only wells around for miles.

What they didn’t expect to find was a group of two hundred native militia soldiers, for Italy also camped there. The militia soldiers were known as bande.

When Italy began shopping around for a pretext to start the war, it created the bande. Their official purpose was to guard the frontier and police any bandit raiders making incursions into Italian Somaliland. An Italian officer usually commanded sixty Somali dubats, who each wore a white turban, a white Somali skirt, a colored sash, and a bandolier. The bande had begun a campaign of creeping occupation into Ethiopian territory, building their huts near the watering holes and then trying to restrict the use of the wells by the neighboring tribes.

When Haile Selassie decided enough was enough, fifteen thousand Ethiopian soldiers had marched down from Jijiga and the city of Harar to push them back. But at a place called Tafare Katama, near Mustahi, the Italians had already established a garrison. The governor of Harar, Gabre Mariam, was a practical fellow who knew he didn’t have enough men and that the timing was bad for a showdown with a European force, one that was likely better equipped. The Ethiopians had made their point, and so off they went. But Italy now had its boot firmly planted in the country. With this success, the Italians grew bolder. By August of 1934, a commandatore was assigned to Walwal to build up the outpost there. What had once been a modest military presence was now to be a fort.

So here was a big problem for the boundary commission, its men weary for water and just wanting to get on with their business of surveying. The Ethiopian government had already made a point of telling Rome that the commission would be doing its work close to the border and would appreciate cooperation from the Italians. Some historians suggest that Haile Selassie was giving the Italians another loud hint that they were unwelcome guests in his empire and should go home. If he was, the Italians chose not to listen. Accounts differ, but at some point Shifferaw apparently had a quiet showdown with a Lieutenant Mousti or another one of the dubats in charge. He told them, in so many blunt words, to get lost, to leave Ethiopian soil. The alternative versions have the dubats refusing to let the Ethiopians have access to the wells.

However the discussion went, it was a stalemate, and the atmosphere was tense. The six hundred Ethiopians outnumbered the bande, and both sides were piling up thorn bushes outside their camps, making barriers that were usually meant for keeping out hyenas, but that were now the Ogaden’s answer to barbed wire. Then Clifford got a message from a Captain Roberto Cimmaruta, asking to talk over the situation. Clifford agreed, and arrangements were made to meet at ten in the morning the next day.20 The two men weren’t strangers to each other—in fact, Cimmaruta was a guest at the formal ceremony for laying the last stone marking the boundary between Ethiopia and British Somaliland.21 When Cimmaruta came, he wasn’t alone—he brought reinforcements from his base in Warder, bolstering the Somali contingent to 250 men.

By mid-morning, the Ethiopians, British, and Italians all stepped out of the hot sun and into the large British tent, where armchairs were seated around a camp table and beer was served.

The sociable mood didn’t last long. The Ethiopians on the border commission made the point that the Italians had no right to be at the oasis. Cimmaruta, however, had come to play the injured party. He claimed the Italian troops were only there to protect the Somali tribesmen from their colony. What’s more, their forces had been at the oasis for years. The talks dragged on well into the afternoon, and Clifford, who was doing his best to play peacemaker, noted in a formal report how Cimmaruta was “unconciliatory” and “disobliging” throughout the whole discussion, repeating several times the same phrases, “Take it or leave it” and “Just as you please.” The Ethiopian commissioners would leave it. Cimmaruta decided to close the negotiations with a threat: he would send for “several hundred soldiers.”22

At that very moment, about four o’clock, two Italian planes buzzed the camp several times. They were flying so low that Clifford and others could see machine guns trained on them. The British colonel finally lost his patience. He knew a provocation when he saw one, and he promptly announced the British mission would withdraw to the town of Ado. The Ethiopian commissioners would accompany the British, but their military would stay put. Cimmaruta took what men he had and returned to Warder, but there was still a sizable number of dubats in Walwal to trade ugly looks with the Ethiopians. He allegedly told the dubats before leaving: “If a fly comes, you must first do this—” he pantomimed a wave to drive away an insect. “If it will not leave you, you take it in your hand—” now he crushed his fist “—and the fly dies.”23

From Warder, the captain decided to pour gasoline on the fire, sending Shifferaw a note two days later that mentioned casually how he’d given a previous message to “a Chief Shifta of yours.” Shifta was the Ethiopian term for bandit—Cimmaruta could only insult the man worse by calling him the son of a whore. He also demanded to know: “1) What you intend to do with all these armed men; 2) Whether you intend to remain in the positions where you are now and beyond which I would advise you not to go.”24

It was Clifford and one of the Ethiopian border commissioners, Lorenzo Taezaz, who took offense. Now in Ado, they cosigned a note that was quickly sent to Warder, scolding the captain over “an expression which is not used this way in an international communication.” They were taking the matter to their respective governments in London and Addis Ababa.

The stakes, of course, were higher than merely drawing water and saving face. For Italy, Walwal was as good a place as any to pick a fight, but the timing and geography couldn’t be worse for Ethiopia. Besides settling boundaries, it had been trying recently to negotiate a land exchange with Great Britain. Ethiopia wanted—had always wanted—access to the sea, and it was close to getting it with the port of Zeila on the Gulf of Aden in British Somaliland. In trade, the British would gain a strip of territory that would include Walwal. Italian military squatters at the oasis were a complication Haile Selassie didn’t need.

Late that night, the Emperor took a phone call at his palace in Addis Ababa and learned the Italians were refusing to withdraw. The Emperor consulted his advisers and decided Shifferaw and his soldiers had better not leave Walwal either.

The stalemate went on for days. Reinforcements came for both sides. On the afternoon of December 5, as the men in each camp sat bored and restless, an Ethiopian by a small fire allegedly threw a bone towards the dubats.25 The mocking gesture was obvious. What still isn’t clear is exactly who fired first. Some heard a whistle blast, and then the shouted words, “A terra!” and “Fuoco!” There was a shot, and suddenly the stretch of Ogaden plain erupted with gunfire from both sides.

Many Ethiopians standing out in the open were easily cut down, including another fitawrari, Alemayehu Goshu. For ten minutes, neither side had the upper hand, but the Ethiopians had unfortunately made a tactical error. They put their two machine guns between Shifferaw’s tent and the ammunition storage tent, where they couldn’t be fired. Then three Italian planes showed up to drop bombs on them. Two armored cars suddenly plowed through the protective thorn bush to mow them down with machine gun fire. Ethiopians were falling under the deadly spray, their outdated rifles having little effect against the armored plating. Shifferaw, a man who would rather sit behind a desk than run with a rifle, decided on the spot to take his wounded and a large contingent of men “to bury the dead in consecrated ground.”26

The battle was left to a brave Muslim named Ali Nur, an ex-soldier of the King’s African Rifles who had once been the interpreter for the British consular service. He kept the fight going after nightfall, his men rushing the armored cars in the dark. But they were cut in half by machine guns or forced back, their spears no match for bullets. At last, after midnight, he took his surviving troops to catch up to Shifferaw’s men on their way to Ado. The Ethiopians had lost 107 men and had forty-five wounded. The Italians won the day with only thirty dead and one hundred men hurt, none of them white, all native soldiers.

News traveled slowly in Ethiopia. What couldn’t be accomplished by telegraph often had to be done by messenger. One from the border commission covered an impressive five hundred miles from Ado to Addis Ababa in two days to provide the Emperor with a full report on the initial confrontation at Walwal. But on December 5, Haile Selassie still didn’t know his soldiers were fighting for their lives miles away. He was consulting his advisers and drafting a protest to be delivered to the Italian legation in the capital.

Ethiopia’s foreign minister, Heruy Wolde Selassie, was a respected author and diplomat, a man with a white beard and portly frame who reminded one American observer of Santa Claus, minus the twinkle in the eye. Now he had to suffer the humiliation of delivering his note and having the Italians tell him the news about the battle and its outcome. Out in the Ogaden, they had wireless—the Ethiopians didn’t.

*  *  *

On the other side of the world, readers of the New York Times flipped through their newspapers on December 8 and saw a story not much bigger than a postage stamp on page eleven. It was a file from the Associated Press bureau in Rome, and the headline told them that Italy was protesting—for the second time—against an Ethiopian attack at “Ualual [Walwal] in Italian Somaliland.”27

The AP bureau chief in Rome made sure to attribute his facts to the Stefani News Agency, but he didn’t bother to mention that the agency was, in fact, government controlled. Nor did he check the geography. Nor did the story explain why the Italian protest was “the second in two months.” It was an oblique reference to a minor incident in Gonder weeks before Walwal, when Ethiopians—some factory workers, plus other workers for the Italian commercial agency—apparently quarreled over a woman and ended up attacking the Italian legation. But Haile Selassie’s government had already offered to make reparations for that.

Whenever David Darrah wanted the official Ethiopian perspective, it was readily available to him a block around the corner from his own apartment in Rome. There, in a Florentine villa surrounded by a high wall, with balconies and a garden of mimosa trees, was the Ethiopian legation. Darrah was regularly escorted in by a “grim and unsmiling”28 servant to the red plush salon of Haile Selassie’s representative in Italy, who was none other than Ethiopia’s first novelist and one of its greatest writers, Afawarq Gabra-Iyassus.

Afawarq had his own personal reasons for war to be avoided. Darrah, of course, knew nothing about the inner workings of Ethiopian nobility and court life, and he also seemed forgivably unaware of the diplomat’s literary reputation. But he easily picked up that the man detested the idea of returning to his homeland. Afawarq had been educated in Italy and had taken an Italian wife, and his mixed-race son happily rode his tricycle up and down the sidewalk as his father wrestled with questions of diplomacy in the garden.

“I often thought,” wrote Darrah, “that behind his dark countenance, many an intricate idea was being hatched that winter and that he would not let his loyalty to the Emperor prevent his working well with the Italians.”29

The reporter was bang on the money. Afawarq didn’t have loyalty to Haile Selassie or to anyone else. Twenty years before, when the great Emperor Menelik had died, Afawarq wrote obsequious poems to get in good with his successor; the successor didn’t last long, and Afawarq made sure to write an ode that suitably condemned him.30 It was hardly a secret in Addis Ababa that Haile Selassie had thought this troublesome writer could do the least amount of damage in Rome. Shamelessly obsequious, Afawarq wrote articles that actually suggested Italy was a pacifist nation, and much later, he was accused of walking around with two separate passports, one Ethiopian and one Italian. He had no sense of diplomatic security either. Blaming a shortage of funds, he sent his cables to Addis Ababa through—believe it or not—Italy’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs.31 That the Italians perused them was common knowledge among reporters in Rome.

To David Darrah, Afawarq had an attitude of “sullen and silent perplexity.”32 If he enjoyed life in the Eternal City, it was no thanks to the hospitality of Italian officials. A detail of caribinieri police guarded the embassy like a fortress against student demonstrations, and plain-clothes operatives recorded every visitor. In the end, any cooperation mattered little to his hosts.

The world’s first reaction to Walwal was a loud yawn. But while the skirmish was over, a diplomatic war was slowly intensifying that would push Ethiopia all the way to the front page.

*  *  *

Anthony Eden first heard about the Walwal Incident when France’s delegate to the League of Nations rang him up at his Geneva hotel. He wanted Eden to come down to the Palais des Nations complex—urgently. The Frenchman wouldn’t explain on the phone, but it was important.

The sprawling set of neo-classical buildings at Ariana Park serve today as the European headquarters for the UN, but the League of Nations in December of 1934 was a very different animal. It had no official flag or symbol, and had no peacekeeping forces of its own—any military strength behind its admonitions needed to come from its members, and especially from the Great Powers of Britain and France, the two heavyweights that dominated the League’s Council. While several British Tories openly expressed their contempt for the League, Eden was a believer.

He was a rising star in the coalition National Government, and he was still in his thirties. He was handsome and something of a fashion icon with his stylish suits and his trademark Homburg hat. The world of British politics then was an inbred and insular one; in his second time running for office, Eden’s opponent was his sister’s mother-in-law. But although he could be painfully shy and was never a natural public speaker, in so many ways he was the best man for his job.

These were the years of looming war clouds, and Eden, at least, was one of the few in the Cabinet who knew how horrible modern war was. He had fought in the trenches of France as an officer in the King’s Royal Rifle Corps, suffering a gas attack and earning himself a Military Cross. He hated “the death, muck, and misery, the pounding shell-fire and the casualty clearing stations.”33 Later, in March of 1935 at a state dinner, he and Adolf Hitler would discover they were on opposite sides of each other in battle; together, they sketched a map of the Western Front on the back of a dinner card. Eden kept it as a souvenir.

Born into a landowning family, he naturally went to Eton, and after the war to Oxford, where he graduated in what was then called “Oriental languages.” He spoke Persian and Arabic, as well as French, German, and Russian, making him a natural choice to be Britain’s League of Nations delegate. There were whispers and grumbles among his political colleagues. He dressed too smartly to have any real depth, didn’t he? Not much commitment there. All of this was unfair. Eden would show a profound depth of conscience as he worked on the issue of Ethiopia, and the experience would leave such a powerful effect on his psyche that it influenced his judgment two decades later and cost him his political career.

Back on that day in December of 1934, however, he only knew that his French counterpart wanted to see him as soon as possible. When Eden arrived at the League headquarters, he discovered René Massigli in earnest conversation with Ethiopia’s representative, Tekle Hawaryat Tekle Mariyam. The Frenchman asked Tekle to brief Eden on the border dispute, and then drew his British counterpart aside to complain: “It smells bad to me, like Manchuria.”34

Eden knew what he meant. Japan had used the flimsy pretext of a blown-up section of railway to invade the Chinese province (the sabotage was actually perpetrated by soldiers of the Japanese army). In 1932, Japan bombed Shanghai, and a short and bloody war ensued. League delegates managed to broker a ceasefire, but the agreement meant humiliating terms for China and spoke more to the economic interests of Europeans than to the security of the inhabitants.

Eden was inclined to agree with Massigli; history was repeating itself. This sort of thing needed the attention of Massigli’s boss, and France’s foreign minister happened to be in town for the League session. Time to bring him down. Into the mix came the gnomish figure of Pierre Laval, a short man with heavily oiled black hair, a bushy mustache, and bad teeth. Though his previous post had been minister of France’s colonies, Laval had barely any knowledge of Ethiopia and had expressed childish amusement over the name of its capital, reciting it over and over. “A-bé-ba. Que c’est chic, ça. A-bé-ba.”35

Still, Laval agreed they should meet with their Italian counterpart, Baron Pompeo Aloisi. For Eden, this was as much as he could do for now—simply convey to London their concerns. “Thus began the first of interminable negotiations,” Eden wrote in his memoirs. “For the moment we could do no more than alert London to our misgivings.”36

*  *  *

On December 9, Ethiopia’s foreign minister, Heruy Wolde Selassie, sent a note to the Italians that stated his government sincerely wanted to reach a settlement. The Italians had other ideas. On December 11, they replied with a note to the Foreign Ministry in Addis Ababa. It claimed that “there can be no doubt that Walwal and Warder belong to Italian Somaliland …” which the Italian government would “show in due course.” The language was blunt, and there were no requests, simply demands:

1) The [provincial commander] Gabre Mariam, Governor of the Harar [Mariam was, in fact, only deputy governor] will proceed to Walwal, where he will present on behalf of the Abyssinian Government, a formal apology to the commander of the Italian post, while an Abyssinian detachment will render honors to the Italian flag

2) The Abyssinian Government will pay to the Royal Italian Legation at Addis Ababa a sum of two hundred thousand (200,000) T.M.T. [Maria Theresa thalers, the Ethiopian currency] as compensation for the heavy losses in dead and wounded sustained by our troops, as separation for the damage caused to our fortified posts and as a refund of the expenditure which the Government of Somaliland has had to incur as a result of the act of aggression committed against it

3) The persons responsible for the attack must be arrested and deprived of their respective commands; after having been present at the honors rendered to the Italian flag in accordance with local usage, they must as soon as possible undergo suitable punishment …37

The terms demanded by Rome would be humiliating for any foreign government, and since the Italians refused arbitration, Emperor Haile Selassie sent a telegram on December 15 to the League of Nations Secretary-General Joseph Avenol. It summarized the events at Walwal and drew the League Council’s “attention to gravity of situation.”38

In Geneva, European and American reporters focused on the telegram’s contention that Walwal was “situated about 100 kilometers [62 miles] within the frontier.” It was hard to imagine that Italy would establish a military base so far inside another country’s borders, but the boundary had never been officially demarcated. Italy still denied Ethiopia’s assertion in its latest salvo, a note sent to the League on December 16.

Four days later, a reporter in the press room of the League of Nations Permanent Secretariat Building in Geneva finally looked at a map of Africa. And most embarrassingly for the Italians, it was a map issued by their own Geographical Institute in Bergamo. There it was, Walwal, sixty-two miles within the Ethiopian border, as set out by a treaty back in 1897.

When Italy’s man in Geneva, Baron Pompeo Aloisi, learned about this hanging indictment, he insisted it be removed because the map was out of date (some minor changes had been made by the treaty signatories in 1908). The reporters had initiative. Off they went to the north wing of the Secretariat Building, where they dug through the League library, and lo and behold—found another map of Ethiopia issued by the Italian Colonial Office in 1925. Once again, Walwal stood sixty-two miles within the Ethiopian border.39

This glaring truth should have been enough. All reporters had to do was spread the word of this simple geographical fact, and the case for Italy should have been thrown out then and there. It would have shamed the leader of almost any other European nation and would have severely damaged his country’s international reputation. But Mussolini was the new Caesar, and he was not about to let facts get in his way.


Chapter Two

THE NEGUS AND THE NEW FLOWER

When a Swiss professor traveled to Ethiopia and talked with a group of students before the war, they were confident in victory. The professor pointed out that the Italians had a formidable air force, but the students were dismissive: “Oh, planes don’t frighten us. Our priests know certain words; they say them, and the planes will crash.” They had absolutely no doubt that their forces were superior. “Ah! We are strong! Our warriors are brave! No European army can defeat ours! Adwa has proved it.”1

And when Italy’s small tanks made of cheap tin (and built by Fiat) roared at last over Ethiopian soil, many had a single word painted on the side: ADWA.

What happened at Adwa? Why did it have such cultural power for both sides? And it did, indeed, for both sides. It’s easy to think of the Ethiopian soldiers of this time as naïve and ignorant of technology. But it can’t be underestimated how much the nineteenth century, with all its racial attitudes and colonial mythology, still had an almost gravitational pull on the European consciousness. It was as if the men and women who led the world into the era of radar and nuclear weapons had Victorian statues looming over their shoulders.

Cecil Rhodes was still a hero for schoolboys in Britain. In the United States, Confederate and Union soldiers of the Civil War still met for occasional anniversary reunions right through the 1930s, and there were still elderly black men and women living who could recall their days of slavery. Edith Piaf sang popular songs about heroic French foreign legionnaires defending themselves against “Salopards,” a derogatory term for tribespeople in the Sahara. Later, in 1939, when the Hungarian-born Korda Brothers made their version of The Four Feathers—the rousing adventure tale of British soldiers fighting the Mahdi in Sudan—the Kordas shot on location and used actual warriors from the original depicted battle as extras in their action sequences.

Back when real British soldiers and not actors fought the Dervishes of Sudan, they needed the Ethiopians, so the two sides cut a deal. The Ethiopians would provide aid and safe passage to Britain’s garrisons on the Sudan frontier, and in return, Ethiopia would get back some real estate occupied by the Egyptians and have free passage through the port of Massawa in what is today Eritrea. In less than a decade, however, Britain no longer wanted the job of port landlord. Massawa needed a subsidy of £20,000 a year, and for what? Its small export trade hardly justified London keeping it on its books. But the accountants behind the huge corporate machine that was the British Empire didn’t like the idea of a Red Sea port falling into the hands of a main competitor: France.

By this time, the Scramble for Africa was full on, and upper-class Englishmen weren’t inclined to think of African nobles and diplomats as equals. Just before Edward VII was about to be introduced to the sovereign of Tonga, he asked, “Is she a real queen or just another damned nigger?”2

So in 1884, the British government went behind Ethiopia’s back and arranged for Rome to take Massawa off its hands.

Settlers for the new Italian colony of Eritrea were soon pushing out the locals, already struggling with the effects of a disease killing their cattle (a disease the Italians likely brought with them).3 In America, the motto had been “Go West,” and the white expansion decimated the lives of Cherokee, Choctaw, and Creek Indians. This was shaping up to be the Italian version. Even though the Italians were the enemy for Ethiopia as a whole, they could still play one provincial faction against another, and they supplied guns and ammunition to the man who became the next emperor, Menelik II. When Menelik ascended the throne, they assumed they had a willing dupe. They were wrong. They tried sneaking a treaty by him, which had benign phrasing in the Amharic draft and language in the Italian version that made Ethiopia a protectorate. That didn’t work either.

Menelik is an intriguing personality in Ethiopian history. A man with a high forehead, thick lips, and cheeks scarred by a bout of smallpox, he never had any formal education, but he was intelligent and had an impish delight in new gadgets like lightbulbs. He knew politics. And in a patchwork quilt of different cultural groups and languages, nothing unified better than a war to defend the homeland. “I am black, and you are black,” he told Muslim Dervishes. “Let us unite to hunt our common enemy.”4

He relied heavily on his cousin and righthand man, Makonnen Walda-Mikael. Educated by a French priest, Makonnen was shrewd and had the charm and elaborate manners befitting an aristocrat. All these characteristics would be handed down to his son, who was born as Tafari, but who would become known to the world as Haile Selassie.

On March 1, 1896, Ethiopia’s Emperor finally settled the score. Italy’s bald, austere general, Oreste Baratieri, promised to bring back Menelik in a cage. He took with him fewer than twenty thousand Italian soldiers and fifty-six artillery guns. That should be enough, shouldn’t it? Because what were they facing, really? Savages armed with spears and a few with guns, dragging along some French artillery—and after all, these were men who allowed their women and children to accompany their force like a bedraggled caravan of refugees. It was pathetic.

But Menelik commanded a host of one hundred thousand men. And he was fighting a defensive war on his own home ground.

It’s not until you stand on a mountaintop in northern Ethiopia, looking over the vast green stretches of ambas, forests, and valleys—the summits occasionally wreathed in curls of white mist—that you begin to comprehend how much geography has determined the fate of this country. And that’s only one part of a huge nation that offers a rich variety of landscapes. It’s not difficult to pity the damn fool who would dare blunder into this natural fortress and try to use conventional warfare on its people. But that’s just what Baratieri did, and disaster followed.

Battle trumpets and gunfire deafened the ears as the Ethiopians fearlessly ran through curtains of black smoke with their shields of buffalo hide and rifles. Across the divide were disciplined ranks of askari troops and Italian soldiers trained to fire in volleys. This would have worked well, but there were far, far too few of them. It’s estimated that more than four thousand Italians were killed, with close to two thousand captured and almost fifteen hundred wounded. And this did not include askari casualties, which also numbered in the thousands. Many Italian officers lost all hope as they saw a charge of Ethiopian cavalry; a couple used their revolvers to kill themselves on the spot.5

A grisly fate waited for many of the askaris captured alive, for they were all considered traitors. The Italians killed you for treason. The Ethiopians let you live, but chopped off your right hand and left foot. Men stood in line, knowing they were about to be mutilated, while a mound of severed limbs piled higher in the background. And during the battle, many Italians, still alive and suffering from wounds, had been stripped naked and castrated. Menelik objected strongly to both these practices. He had given orders against castrations, but they were ignored. As for the askaris, there was a lot of political pressure—some of it from his own wife and empress—to make them pay for their service to Italy. Later, a British reporter challenged the Emperor over the amputations, but Menelik proved he was more statesman than politician. No apologies were made. Instead, he fired back that the askaris had looted churches and sacked villages; they were thieves, and so were treated like thieves.6

It had never happened before, a black African nation beating a white one in the developed world—not for a single battle, but decisively, for the climax of a war. Italy’s prestige plummeted in Europe. Only two weeks after the defeat, Franceso Crispi’s government was driven from office. The war had bled the Italian treasury, and the bill kept hemorrhaging after the battle. Italy was forced to pay ten million lire to cover the maintenance of its prisoners, who began to sail home less than a year later and were warned by authorities not to talk to reporters.

For Italy, Adwa was an embarrassment. For Ethiopia? Validation. Historian Raymond Jonas, who has written the definitive book The Battle of Adwa, rightly sums it up as “a national epic, the founding event in the modern life of the nation … Adwa deserves to be ranked among the great military campaigns of modern history.”7

*  *  *

So much for treating the Ethiopians the way the rest of Africa was handled. In London and Paris, officials took one look at reports on the complete shellacking of Italy, cleared their throats, and decided, ahem, diplomacy might be the better way to go.

The British and French, along with the Italians, set up individual legations in Addis Ababa, and Britain signed a new Treaty of Friendship with Ethiopia in May 1897. In 1906, an American diplomat made a fascinating effort to win influence—President Theodore Roosevelt was rather taken with Ethiopia’s exoticism—but he didn’t get much for his trouble except goodwill and some zebras to take back to the Washington zoo.8 Too bad, because as it turned out, the powers of Europe were only playing the long con, waiting for whoever would be the Emperor’s successor. And by then, Menelik was in poor shape. He suffered a stroke that year and was sliding ever closer to his end, thanks to complications of syphilis.

So Britain, France, and Italy decided to divide up the pie. Their Tripartite Agreement of 1906 piously claimed that none of them would “infringe in any way the sovereign rights” of the Emperor—unless they could get away with it. They reserved the right “in the event of rivalries or internal changes in Ethiopia to intervene to protect their nationals and to act always in concert to safeguard their respective interests.” The authors of this tidy bargain failed to remember one minor detail. The Emperor was still alive, and as bad as his health was, he didn’t appreciate the foreign powers carving up his empire. When he got wind of the deal, he summoned diplomats from all three countries to explain themselves. Their response amounted to: Who, us? Oh, no, no, no—this is all hypothetical, sir. He let them off with a tongue-lashing about Ethiopia’s sovereignty and territorial integrity.

It was the last growl of a tired and sickly lion. When Menelik died in 1913, Ethiopia was once again embroiled in court intrigues and succession politics—perfect circumstances for the European deal. But none of the foreign powers could swoop in and take advantage. The First World War was coming, and the years of slaughter in faraway trenches would buy a little more time for Ethiopia. Yet the war’s aftermath provided a new pretext for Italy to claim a share of African spoils.

It happened like this. Italy signed the secret Treaty of London in 1915 that promised it “equitable compensation” for joining the fight against the Kaiser—compensation, as in certain European territories and African colonies. The war was an utter disaster for Italy when it came to economics and any dividends of prestige. By the summer of the 1919 peace talks in Paris, the Italian government had a crushing $3.5 billion debt owed to the Allies. There was disgust, too, over Rome’s swift land grabs along the Adriatic to ensure it got the promised European spoils. There were reports of Allied food shipments held up in Trieste by Italian authorities and deportations of Slav nationalists from Dalmatia. When America’s Woodrow Wilson, France’s Georges Clemenceau, and Britain’s Lloyd George refused to give in to Italy’s demands, Prime Minister Vittorio Orlando actually broke down and wept before abandoning the talks.

Italy kept pressing its claims, and as early as 1920, it was hassling a very young League of Nations. “To those privileged states which enjoy a monopoly with regard to raw materials,” argued its representative, “and to those whose wealth has permitted them to acquire a monopoly outside their territories, I say … declare yourselves ready to support the cause of international solidarity.”

Now here was a peculiar rationale. Italy was making its case for empire to a body dedicated to the idea of the equality of states. But nothing came of it. Twelve years later, with Walwal, Italy had its excuse to take on the battlefield what it couldn’t buy at a conference table.

On his deathbed, Menelik allegedly had the remaining strength to weep mournful tears and whisper: “My poor people.”9

*  *  *

In London and Paris, you expect chauffeured black sedans to whisk diplomats and ministers off to palaces to meet with heads of state. But in the Addis Ababa of December 1934, it wasn’t unusual for Ethiopians to see the leader of the British legation—an innocuous-looking man who favored a bowtie in civilian dress—wearing a formal white uniform as he rode through the streets of their capital on horseback. This is the way Sir Sidney Barton preferred to arrive at the Emperor’s palace, and he liked even more having an escort of a small unit of turbaned Bengal Lancers.

Barton’s ride was a ceremonial one, but a horse mount was useful when most of the roads were only mule tracks. When a policeman directed traffic in the street, he did it with a rhinoceros whip. The capital of Ethiopia was very much a place of historical anachronisms. As far as the rest of Ethiopia went at the time, it was a modern city, with a population of 130,000 people in a remote spot in the middle of the mountains, eight thousand feet above sea level. Menelik founded it because his formidable wife, Taitu, had never liked their original base at Ankobar. And so they had come here, to this spot dubbed “The New Flower.” It had phones and telegraphs and (partial) electricity, and Menelik had even gone to the trouble of importing eucalyptus trees from Australia to decorate his turn-of-the-century capital. Different nobles, wanting to be as fashionable as their emperor, built impressive compounds of their own near his palace.

But aside from a small collection of stone and brick buildings, this was a landscape of motley tukuls, traditional thatch huts, and an ever-growing collection of shantytown homes with tin for the roofs and mud-caked walls. When the British minister and his Lancers rode through town, they passed huge heaps of trash in nearby streets because the city had no sewage system. European visitors also soon discovered that the city shut down by nine in the evening. In hotels, water for their morning baths was fetched from hot springs in a gas can.

As Britain’s man in Ethiopia, Sidney Barton was high in the pecking order of the resident expats, and his wife was a personal friend of the empress. East Africa had to be a very different world for him when he arrived in 1929, especially since he spent his career until then in Shanghai and the Asia-Pacific region. Barton didn’t suffer fools, and he liked efficiency. He admired the Japanese for first having wandered all over this exotic land to check markets and make a thorough investigation of prices and practices before they got down to business. “Why don’t we do that?” he asked with rhetorical exasperation.10

But his duties were probably light in a posting that was considered a backwater by the Foreign Office. Each week, the Bartons went to the city’s racecourse to watch polo matches, and when the British ambassador wanted an escape, he could sit in the Imperial Club and read a copy of The Illustrated London News, which invariably arrived by mail a month out of date.11 For years, he’d kept his own careful watch on the Italians’ encroachment near British Somaliland, but he had his orders from home: make it clear to the Emperor that he shouldn’t count on any open support from the British, who had pressing reasons to stay on good terms with Italy. Instead, the Emperor should work out a direct settlement with the Italian government.

To come speak with the Emperor, he had to pass a gate where on any given day, hundreds of ordinary Ethiopians in traditional shammas might wait eagerly to catch a brief sight of their sovereign, not unlike today’s royal watchers at Buckingham Palace in London. The grounds held three separate courtyards, with the Imperial Palace, the gibbi, built by Menelik. Haile Selassie decided to build a new palace, one that was called the “Little Gibbi” and was fashioned in the style of an English country house. To go with the English architecture, one of his advisers, the Swedish general Eric Virgin, made over the manners of the Ethiopian court with the etiquette protocols of Europe. Just as foreign guests waited for their bath water in their hotel rooms, so the parched gardens in the dry season needed two hundred palace staff to fetch water from the hot springs as well. And for all the pomp of military drill and the uniforms borrowed from European styles, many soldiers of the imperial guard in their smart caps and tunics went barefoot.

But any visitors to the palace would be reminded they were still in Africa by the lions in cages kept on the grounds. A pair of them used to lazily sprawl out and pant in the heat near the door to Haile Selassie’s study. Virgin was once confronted by a lion on one of his earliest visits to the library. Startled, he stepped cautiously past the animal and didn’t mention it to the Emperor, but he sensed that Haile Selassie would have enjoyed him bringing it up.12 Many newcomers heard a taller tale about the lions and Sidney Barton. The story went that when Barton came upon one of the animals, he promptly drew his pistol and shot the big cat dead, promising the Emperor that he’d do it again if he ever ran into another one. It seems highly implausible that Haile Selassie would stand for this, but whatever prompted the change, the Emperor now only played with cubs in the open, while the full-grown mascots were kept locked up.

Ethiopia’s Emperor couldn’t have been more of a contrast to Benito Mussolini in background, character, and physical presence. The Italian dictator was born a peasant; Haile Selassie claimed a lineage back to King Solomon. Mussolini, the once-avowed atheist, bragged of his womanizing and affairs. The Emperor, fiercely devout to the Ethiopian Orthodox Christian Church, was faithful to his wife and was grooming a son to replace him. The Duce of Rome was famous for his boisterous theatrics and his pose of athleticism. Haile Selassie was referred to in countless news reports as “tiny” at five foot four, with Western observers remarking on his high forehead, aristocratic features, and brown eyes that they often described as “melancholy.” He had grown his thick black beard to offset his obvious youth when he was still trying to make a name for himself at the imperial court.

For all his life, he would have a reputation for his dignified, sometimes icy composure. Tantrums might be the response—even a conscious tactic—of a Fascist dictator, but it was impressed upon Haile Selassie at an early age that dignity was the default posture of a king. He was a man of shrewd intelligence with a competent knowledge of English, but who preferred to converse with Westerners in French. He never acted impulsively, but always weighed his options, consulted others, and didn’t betray his line of thinking until he was ready to announce a decision.

Days before his troops were getting cut to pieces by Italian machine gun fire, the Emperor was already mulling over the option of a complaint to the League of Nations. He wondered if simply changing the troops for fresh ones might be interpreted as provocative. Barton was blunt. Never mind that, he explained in so many words, you have to supply the soldiers properly, instead of letting them rely on the resources of the neighboring tribes, many of which were nomadic and protected by British forces in Somaliland.

The Emperor thought it best to end the meeting then and there.

Eventually, the grim details of Walwal reached the palace and then, later, Italy’s imperious demands for reparations. When Haile Selassie met again with Barton, the British minister was still trying to sell quiet, direct negotiation. But the Emperor had other advisers he could rely on. Two of them, a Swiss named Auberson and a retired American diplomat, Everett Colson, composed a telegram that was wired to the League, asking it to step in.13 Colson was an old Wilsonian Democrat from Maine who once held a desk in the Philippines and put in a brief stint in China. “Here they tell you So-and-so’s a very intelligent man,” he once commented dryly, “and that means he can speak French.”14

The pressure on Haile Selassie had to be enormous. He didn’t need foreign enemies—he had plenty at home. He kept a Swiss cook on staff as a taster of his food to defend himself against poisons. When he toured the country, he rode in an armored car. There were always those waiting to challenge his position. And unlike Adwa for Menelik, this second imminent war with Italy was not guaranteed to be a great unifier.

Not long after the Walwal incident, a one-time provincial chief, Balcha Safo, now an elderly man, turned up in Addis Ababa without a retinue and putting his weight on a priest’s staff as he walked along. Balcha was a walking museum exhibit for Ethiopia’s medieval past. He was an Oromo eunuch who rose through the offices of power, and when Menelik rode to the Battle of Adwa, Balcha was given the honor of gripping the reins that led the mule of the empress. Then, in 1928, Balcha pressed his luck by showing up at the capital with five thousand warriors and acting belligerently on the palace grounds. Even his officers put some distance between them and his rude behavior. Haile Selassie wasn’t Emperor yet, but he had an impressive power base as prince regent, and he took the implied threat seriously. Balcha Safo found his camp on the outskirts of the city surrounded. He had to carry a stone of penance through the streets and then serve a prison sentence, and after he was finally let out, he went off to live in quiet obscurity—until this visit.

“Janhoy,” he called the Emperor, which served as the Ethiopian equivalent of Your Majesty. “I am done with the past! I have kept trust, and I do not see why I should ever break it. I heard of the attack on your soldiers at … Walwal … and I cannot stay shut up in my monastery when I know that they are going to battle. I fought by the side of Menelik at Adwa, and I demand my place by you!”15

The Emperor was moved by this devotion, but told the old warrior gently, “Thank you, Balcha, for being prepared to die for your country. It was good of you to return in your old age to lead your men to war, but times have changed since Adwa, and the war of today is no longer the war of Adwa. It is no longer enough to have courage and patriotism; today tactics and strategy are required. Your place is here, Balcha, I can make good use of you, and for the actual fighting I have younger generals.”16

It was a lesson Haile Selassie would try to impress upon his commanders again and again for the next several months. He was well aware of the havoc that Italy’s air force and its modern tanks could rain down on an army of men with spears and obsolete rifles. Months after he had neutralized Balcha back in 1928, he had put down another rebellion of ten thousand soldiers. A French pilot had flown over them in a biplane to make three bombing runs, scattering the rebel warriors and cavalry.17 But too many Ethiopians were like Balcha, with a vision of the glorious past battle stubbornly blinding them to the metal and steel death that was coming.

*  *  *

Ethiopia was an African nation, but it had palace intrigues and feudal politics to rival the Borgias and Ottomans.

When Makonnen died of typhoid in 1906, Emperor Menelik brought the young Ras Tafari from Harar to be a gentleman-in-waiting at his court. Tafari was fourteen years old. Only two years later, this teenager was given responsibilities as a governor of a sub-province while he continued his education. There were key lessons to pick up outside the classroom, too. Lesson one: Nobles and bureaucrats accept gifts. Lesson two: They like to line their pockets from trade deals. This was how things got done. After Menelik suffered his stroke, certain nobles from Shoa schemed to have Empress Taitu step down because of her influence. Lesson three: Know who your friends and enemies are, and don’t change sides in a crisis. Tafari wouldn’t go along with the plot. He wouldn’t give up the names of the conspirators either, carefully threading his way through the complicated alliances.18

He had a talent for politics. When he became governor of Harar, the province his father once ruled, he investigated the crushing taxes that were ruining the peasants and instituted reforms, making himself popular. When he married for the second time, he made sure it was to a woman with an imperial lineage and family ties to the crown prince (his first wife would die giving birth to his first daughter). He was lucky in that his second wife, Menen, was an intelligent, good-looking older woman of strong piety like himself, and there’s no reason to doubt that he sincerely loved her.

He also got along reasonably well with the crown prince, Lij Iyasu, but the two were very different in temperament. Tafari’s early education had been from a French priest and an Ethiopian Capuchin monk, and as a teen, he was a pensive scholar. Iyasu, Menelik’s grandson and the heir to the throne, was an emotionally unstable party boy who visited brothels and already had doubts that Christianity should remain the state religion. His short reign was a disaster from the beginning. On the very night that Menelik died in 1913, he had Taitu kicked out of the palace. He then decided to play up to the country’s Muslim population, alienating the Christian aristocracy. He backed Germany and Turkey in the Great War. Fine, said Britain and France, and they promptly slapped an arms embargo on Ethiopia. All this put a good and proper scare into Ethiopia’s nobles. Iyasu was off his hinges. Iyasu was a traitor. Iyasu had to go, and they excommunicated him. When his father went to battle in 1916 to put his son back on the throne, Tafari sent an army to Segale to decisively put him down. In the aftermath, Iyasu fled into the desert.

But Ras Tafari’s time still hadn’t come. Menelik’s conservative daughter, Zewditu, became empress, while he had to settle for the role of regent. Fortunately, Zewditu was a sickly diabetic who cared more about building churches than affairs of state. Ras Tafari was nothing if not patient. He kept slowly, quietly centralizing his power while bringing in his reforms. And he wasn’t above amassing his own wealth to secure his base. He sent promising young men abroad to get a wider education, protégés who would become known as the “Young Ethiopians.” Yet at every turn, while he was regent and then later as emperor, he was met with steady resistance from ministers, nobles, and church officials.

When the Allies won the Great War, Tafari knew it would be a smart move to congratulate the victors and strengthen ties. He liked Woodrow Wilson’s vision for the League of Nations, and he would have loved to go to Paris himself to head a delegation for the talks in 1919. But he couldn’t afford to leave the capital to the machinations of “the priests and the women” who wanted to block his reforms at every turn. Timing was everything. Soon, he would be strong enough politically. Soon, he could campaign in earnest for Ethiopia’s place among the members of the League.

And he would get last-minute support for membership from a most unlikely ally: Benito Mussolini.

*  *  *

From the balcony of the royal Quirinal Palace in Rome, Ras Tafari and Italy’s King Victor Emmanuel waved to a crowd cheering: “Long live Italy! Long live Ethiopia! Long live His Highness Crown Prince Tafari!” Since Tafari and his wife Menen arrived in the middle of June in 1924, Mussolini and the king had pulled out all stops to be gracious hosts. A royal train was sent for their guests at the border, and at a state dinner, Victor Emmanuel made a toast of friendship and blessings for Ethiopia.19

What a change this made from the treatment Ethiopia received from other countries! When it applied for membership to the League of Nations the year before, Britain opposed it. The argument? Ethiopia still had slavery. Then it came out that the British ambassador at the time kept several slaves himself as domestics. Ethiopia still won its vote to be included in the League. And to everyone’s surprise, Italy was on its side. Italy. The country beaten so badly at Adwa. Why would Mussolini bother?

The truth was that Mussolini had never wanted Ethiopia in the League. One week after Ethiopia applied, in fact, he cabled his men in Paris and Addis Ababa to say he was opposed to it.20 But then he thought it over and realized he ought to step carefully. France was backing the bid for admission. Britain resented France over this, assuming its old rival wanted to widen its sphere of influence in East Africa and cause mischief. And Britain was appalled that such an “uncivilized” nation should dare ask for admittance to the League and quite possibly hurt the young organization’s prestige.

The British grumbled about all this carelessly to the Italians, so that a diplomat could send a telegram to his Duce, assuring him that the British “will try at Geneva to make admission practically impossible.”21 In Mussolini’s view, why risk causing offense when you can get others to make your complaints for you? The British, however, couldn’t get others onboard their blocking bandwagon, and in the end, they gave up the effort. After the Italian delegate stood in the League Chamber to make an effusive speech, the assembly made a unanimous vote to admit Ethiopia. Mussolini’s tactics had failed, but he had lost nothing for his trouble.

So in 1924, it was smiles all around when the Lion of Judah was welcomed into the Duce’s own den. Part of the substance Tafari hoped to gain from his European tour was a port for Ethiopia. The French had built their railway from Djibouti, and it was to the French that Tafari had turned first. But France’s prime minister at the time, Raymond Poincaré, had given him a “hopeful reply” and then left Tafari to wait … and wait …

He decided to try his luck with Mussolini in Rome.

When the two sat down to discuss matters, Tafari was impressed with Mussolini’s “powerful face, his enormous eyes, his projecting jaw, his voice with its always changing inflections.” He found the dictator “theatrical.”22 Of course, Italy was willing to grant Ethiopia access to the sea. In fact, he had come to their meeting prepared with a draft treaty. Tafari, being Makonnen’s son, knew to be careful. No, he didn’t want to sign it right now, he told his host. It needed some careful study back in Addis Ababa. This short visit in Rome would be the first and last time the two leaders would ever come face-to-face.

Mussolini’s treaty was for a ninety-nine-year lease on the port of Assab, but it had the same kind of hidden tricks as previous Italian offers, and in the end Tafari rejected it. But the dictator had shown him more courtesy than he received at the other stops on his European tour. In Paris, the French were happy to take him around to all the tourist sights. By all means, go look at the Eiffel Tower. See the Louvre while you’re here … and then they refused to talk business. And before he even crossed the Channel, the British demonstrated their contempt. The Manchester Guardian noted that the regent received a kiss from a little girl and decided, “A kiss for a Negro king is more than all the wealth of England can afford.”23

George V had no more respect for Africans than his royal ancestors, and he refused to allow Tafari and his wife to stay at Buckingham Palace. No, he would not bother to greet the regent at Victoria Station, which was only a few minutes’ drive away; that duty fell to the Duke of York (later George VI) while the Prince of Wales was off in Paris for the Olympics. Things went from awkward to worse when Prime Minister Ramsay MacDonald chose to lecture Tafari on nomads raiding Somaliland and Ethiopia’s slow progress in justice reform.

So Ras Tafari left Europe, having impressed a few diplomats and the more liberal newspapers like London’s Observer, but with very little else to show for his trouble. A bit of time passed, and it was as if all the diplomatic overtures had never happened. There was an exchange of notes between the Duce and the British ambassador to Rome, Sir Ronald Graham. Mussolini would back London’s bid to get a concession on Ethiopia’s Lake Tana, including construction of a road from Sudan, if Italy could get help securing a railway from Eritrea to Italian Somaliland—which would have to run right through Ethiopia. Of course the two sides hadn’t consulted Ethiopia at all, and they were carving up a nation on paper that only two years before had been granted status as one of their equals. Tafari did his best imitation of Menelik: patient, indulgent, and, in private, furious.

But now things were different, and membership has its privileges. He took his case to the League of Nations in June. “We are greatly distressed about this agreement being concluded by the two governments among themselves alone without them informing Us, and then simply sending Us joint notifications …”24 There were more smiles, more declarations of peace, and the Duke of Abruzzi presented Ras Tafari with the Grand Order of the Annunziata, the highest Italian order of chivalry, even while the Italian colonial official, Alberto Pollera, and others offered arms and covert help to Ras Gugsa Wale, the governor of Begemder, for a revolt against the government.

This was the revolt that Tafari put down in 1930 with the help of a biplane dropping bombs.

*  *  *

As it happened, Ras Gugsa Wale was Zewditu’s husband, but this hardly mattered, as Tafari had gained so much power by then that she could hardly stand against him, having already crowned him Negus (“King” in Amharic). In 1930, sick with typhoid and already weak from fasting for Lent, her priests decided to dunk her in holy water as a desperate cure, and she lapsed into a coma and died with a dutiful regent at her bedside.

Whatever Tafari felt over Zewditu’s passing, he was now the unquestioned Emperor of Ethiopia, and for his whole life, he considered his reign ordained by God. He took as his new imperial name Haile Selassie, which in Amharic means “the Power of the Trinity.” Invitations went out to heads of state and representatives around the world to celebrate his coronation, and reporters and dignitaries arrived at a cleaned-up Addis Ababa decorated by triumphal arches and new lighting for its main streets.

On hand for the coronation were two young Englishmen with very different reactions and attitudes to the spectacle.

One was the son of a British minister from years past, and he had been born in the mud tukul that once served as Britain’s legation. As a boy, he delighted in sightings of vultures and lions and hyenas, and at six years old, he was a witness to the procession of the victorious Shoan army of the regent. At twenty, Wilfred Thesiger had yet to make his mark, and his legendary travels through the Arabian Empty Quarter were years away. But he was the only guest to receive a personal invitation from Ras Tafari, and he had come as the Honorary Attaché of the Duke of Gloucester, who would represent his father, the king of England.

To young Thesiger, all the pomp was in some ways pitiful, and yet in others, he was spellbound by the grandeur. But he resented the creeping taint of Western influence, the noise of automobiles and the palace secretaries wearing tailcoats and top hats. He would remain a frequently absent yet lifelong loyal friend to the Emperor, and when the impressionable young man gushed about how glad he was to be back in the country, Haile Selassie told him: “It is your country. You were born here. You have lived here for half of your life. I hope you will spend many more years with us.”25 After his audience with the Emperor, Thesiger received two elephant tusks, a fancy gold cigarette case, a large, impressive carpet, and the Star of Ethiopia, Third Class.

There was no swag for the other young Englishman, who regarded all the pageantry with open contempt. This was Evelyn Waugh: seven years older than Thesiger, he took great delight in cataloging others’ hypocrisy while often ignoring his own. As a novelist, he had already secured his reputation with parodies of the upper classes, such as Decline and Fall, and he was in Addis Ababa as correspondent for the Graphic. But Waugh was far out of his element. He was humiliated when the nieces of Sidney Barton laughed at him for failing to book a hotel room in advance, and he was offended that he didn’t get an invitation to one of the major functions. Waugh complained about Barton as a “half-baked consul” and took his revenge by skewering the family in caricatures for Black Mischief. 26

Thesiger spotted Waugh at one of the receptions and was put off instantly by the author’s affectations and his entourage that hung on every bon mot. He also got wind of the nasty insults Waugh was dishing out over Sidney Barton and his wife. For Thesiger, the couple had turned into valued friends, which was natural, as they were all products of the Foreign Service establishment. He would not forget Waugh’s slights.

“I disapproved of his gray suede shoes, his floppy tie, and the excessive width of his trousers,” Thesiger remembered. “He struck me as flaccid and petulant and I disliked him on sight. Later he asked, at second-hand, if he could accompany me into the Danakil country, where I planned to travel. I refused. Had he come, I suspect only one of us would have returned.”27

The Ethiopia Crisis and the war would turn out to be full of meetings like this, run-ins between the famous and the notorious, with dramatic moments you wouldn’t believe if they were fiction. Thesiger would not go to fight for Ethiopia in 1935, conscious that he “should have achieved nothing, beyond retaining my self-respect.”28 He would fight for it later with the British Army. For Waugh, however, Ethiopia was useful as a target for his satires, starting with Black Mischief. And when the Crisis escalated, he would be back.

Interestingly enough, both young men took little notice of an incident that marred the festivities. There was an aerial show at the coronation dress rehearsal to demonstrate that Ethiopia could master the skies like developed nations. The colonel of the tiny Ethiopian Air Force and trainer of its cadets was a black pilot named Hubert Julian, who had made a name for himself with parachute and barnstorming stunts in Harlem. He had managed to ingratiate himself with the regent, and in one precoronation display, thrilled the crowd with stunts performed in one of the country’s few aircraft. Then from five thousand feet high, Julian dived out of the plane and parachuted within a few yards of the stands.

An impressed regent awarded Julian the Gold Order of Menelik, a substantial sum of money, his new commission as colonel, and even a villa on Mount Entoto. It should have been enough glory for any man, especially one eager to make a name for himself in an exotic land.

But on the day of the dress rehearsal, the new Emperor had expressly ordered Julian not to fly. This was supposed to be the Ethiopians’ show, their moment to shine. The colonel, however, couldn’t help himself. He hopped into the Emperor’s brand-new Gypsy Moth—actually bought through Selfridges department store in London (you could buy practically anything from Selfridges back then, even planes)—and taxied to the runway. After buzzing the royal canopy, Julian lost control of the engine and the Moth went into a loop, smashing into a nearby set of eucalyptus trees.

Had the arrogant pilot been an Ethiopian, Haile Selassie probably would have tossed him into a jail cell. There were some at court who wanted him executed. Instead, the punishment for him was to be banished, and a small escort took Hubert Julian to the newly fixed-up train station and put him on the next coach for Djibouti. The matter was settled. No one expected that in five years, Julian would be back in Ethiopia, seeing the African nation’s desperate peril as another chance for his own personal glory.

*  *  *

By December 18, 1934, Haile Selassie was looking for help over Walwal from the American chargé d’affaires, William Perry George. George was a fixture of the capital’s diplomatic clique, quite ready to man the bar in the Imperial Club when there were parties, but now events at his sleepy post made things awkward for him. Washington sent him a flurry of telegrams, demanding news, but he had none to offer. Then, suddenly, he did have something to report.

Summoned to the palace, George spoke with Haile Selassie in French. The Emperor wanted the United States to help decide things, which probably came as a complete surprise to George. Here was Haile Selassie, talking in vague terms about how America could make “some gesture”—something—that could push the situation toward a peaceful resolution.29 The Emperor was astute enough to recognize that after the Great War, America was a new superpower of great influence.

Unfortunately, it was a superpower that wasn’t interested. A couple of days later, in the stack of the daily telegrams George received from Washington, Secretary of State Cordell Hull pointed out that “since the incident has been brought to the attention of the League of Nations and since it is the intention of the Ethiopian Government to pursue the matter before the Council, this Government considers that it could not usefully or properly take any action.”30 Instead, Hull and the State Department would follow events with “sympathetic interest.” There would be no gesture and no open support.

But America would end up playing a crucial role in the drama, whether it wanted to or not, even if it refused to raise its voice. Its position on Ethiopia would ultimately help decide the fate of the world.

Then Italian troops attacked a new target, Gerlogubi, about thirty miles southwest of Walwal. Italy rejected arbitration, flouting the terms of the 1928 Friendship Treaty, and Haile Selassie had had enough. On January 3, he sent another telegram to the League of Nations. Only this time, his government asked in no uncertain terms that his fellow members apply Article 2 of the League’s Covenant. This stated, “Any war or threat of war, whether immediately affecting any of the Members of the League or not, is hereby declared a matter of concern to the whole League, and the League shall take any action that may be deemed wise and effectual to safeguard the peace of nations.”

This was not what Mussolini wanted; backroom discussions among the principal players, yes, sit downs and consultations and more mutual assurances, but not the legitimacy of international proceedings. Britain’s Anthony Eden would consider them “interminable negotiations,” but what he didn’t know yet was that Mussolini wanted them to be interminable. The Duce was counting on it. Two weeks after Walwal, he composed a secret memorandum entitled “Directive and Plan of Action for the Solution of the Italo-Abyssinian Question.” Only five copies of it were issued, one that naturally went to his first commander for the invasion, General Emilio De Bono, who refers to it in his memoir.31

“Time is working against us,” declared Mussolini, and his solution for the problem was the “total conquest of Ethiopia” and destruction of its military.32 His forces, he wrote, would have to be in Eritrea by October of 1935, which would put the campaign after the rainy season in Ethiopia. He estimated one hundred thousand Italian soldiers and sixty thousand askari troops would be needed for the job, with the support of at least 250 airplanes in Eritrea and fifty in Somalia.

And what would Britain and France have to say about that?

“The more rapid our military action, the less will be the danger of diplomatic complications,” Mussolini reasoned. He ordered his general to Eritrea to assume the post of High Commissioner for East Africa. “No one in Europe will raise any difficulties for us if the conduct of military operations rapidly creates an accomplished fact [emphasis added]. It will be enough to declare to England and France that their interests will be recognized.”33 So Mussolini wasn’t thinking in terms of a last-minute invasion, but a last-minute peace.

*  *  *

As Pierre Laval’s train crossed the Italian border, Fascist militia offered salutes at regular close intervals, and crowds in Turin, Genoa, and other stops seemed always ready to give him an enthusiastic greeting. Being a former newspaperman, Mussolini knew how to throw a media spectacle, and it helped, of course, that he controlled a good share of the Italian press anyway. When Laval stepped onto the station platform in Rome on January 4, Mussolini shook his hand and kissed him on both cheeks in the French tradition, and Italian Undersecretary for Foreign Affairs Fulvio Suvich offered a bouquet of roses to Laval’s daughter, Josée, in the Duce’s name. At a banquet the next evening, Laval called Mussolini “the writer of the most beautiful page in the history of modern Italy.”34

Having made nice for the cameras, the two men talked the next day with their advisers at the Palazzo Venezia. Laval was about to become one of the chief architects of Ethiopia’s betrayal.

He was an unusual politician. Laval was a peasant son from Puy-Guillaume in France’s mountainous Auvergne, and he had the table manners to show it. The young Laval studied his way out of his home backwater, letting the family horse navigate its way to complete vegetable deliveries as he kept his nose in his books. Armed with a law degree, he started out as a hardcore Socialist, but decided he preferred to be rich, and his business connections soon earned him a fixer-upper of a castle in Châteldon. He made the most telling remark about his personality and ethics in 1930: “I believe that people can best be cared for without consulting their wishes.”35

To Laval and most of his Cabinet colleagues in 1935, the best way to care for the people of France was to keep Nazi Germany in check.

The Great Powers had good reason to be worried. Their intelligence services confirmed that Hitler was secretly re-arming after he had pulled out of the League of Nations. What we remember today is Hitler’s successful encroachment on Austria. What we forget is that, back in 1935, Austria was considered to be very much in Italy’s sphere of influence, a “buffer state” to its north. While Hitler patterned himself after Mussolini in several ways, they were not fast friends, and their alliance lay in the future. In fact, the Duce called the German Fuehrer a “clown.”

So it was reasonable in the beginning for the politicians of Britain and France to turn to Italy, their ally in the Great War, to maintain the peace. The problem was that Mussolini knew how important he was on the strategy board. All this factored brilliantly into his plan to steam ahead and have fewer “diplomatic complications.” Back in early October, he had baited his hook and suggested in a speech that an entente with France would be “useful and fruitful.”

The way to get Italy’s help with Germany, reasoned Laval, was to strike a bargain over pieces of French Africa. This would be a quick way to solve that leftover migraine from Versailles, the broken promise that Italy would get a few colonial spoils out of the Great War. In French-controlled Tunisia, a vocal minority of Italian nationals, encouraged by Rome, had been insisting recently on annexation to Italian Libya. But Mussolini was willing to trade them in for different parcels of real estate, including some forty-four thousand square miles of useless desert that French Somaliland could give away without a sigh of regret.

Thousands of Italian nationals in the colony were shocked to discover their Duce had forfeited their citizenship. Even Laval heard the squawking of angry Italian officials, who said without any sense of irony, “If we had a parliament, Mussolini would be overthrown.” The French governor in Tunisia later told him that in Italian schools, teachers tossed portraits of Mussolini on the floor, and children freely spat on them.36

Laval knew Mussolini’s price for Tunisia. He admitted later that Ethiopia had been discussed, and claimed he “urged Mussolini not to resort to force … He started war against my will and despite my solemn protest.”37

This was disingenuous. He was abdicating France’s role right then and there as one of the protectors of the League on collective security. Why was he “urging” and not warning Mussolini to back off? He had to know that Mussolini would not sacrifice Italy’s Tunisian subjects unless he was given a “free hand” in Ethiopia, an expression that came into use around these negotiations.

Pierre Lazareff of Paris-Soir learned a telling anecdote from a reliable colleague. Mussolini had apparently asked Laval: “Supposing Italy wanted to deal with Ethiopia as France has already dealt with Morocco—what would the attitude of France be?” Laval replied: “I’ll see to it that France will look on without saying a word. We won’t have any trouble on that score.”38

Having already drawn up a systematic program for his campaign, Emilio De Bono took the regular steamer that left Naples for Eritrea on January 7, the same day Laval and Mussolini announced their agreement on the African colonies.

*  *  *

Less than a week later, the League of Nations began its new session in Geneva, but the British and French managed to persuade Ethiopia’s delegate, Tekle Hawaryat, to delay putting the arbitration request on the formal agenda. They assured him a solution could be found in quiet talks, away from the main council chamber.

It says much about Britain’s Foreign Office of the 1930s that its “expert” on Ethiopia, Geoffrey Thompson, who was Anthony Eden’s age, had never set foot in the country. Before he tunneled his way through the files to study up, the African nation “had never previously been anything but a name to me.”39 The good news: Thompson was highly intelligent and brought a keen sense of insight to his work. The bad news: Both he and Eden were undermined at every turn in Geneva by their own boss, the foreign secretary.

Sir John Simon was the kind of Tory politician that moderates and leftists hated; he earned the eternal loathing of ordinary workers by declaring the General Strike of 1926 illegal. His own Cabinet colleagues disliked him, with even Neville Chamberlain feeling repulsed and Harold Nicolson calling Simon a “toad.” Simon was not a friend, let alone an objective, neutral figure during the Crisis. He’d written a preface for a book by his wife criticizing Ethiopian slavery.

One late night in Geneva, Thompson was drafting up crucial telegrams to be sent to Addis Ababa and Rome. When he brought the drafts to Simon’s hotel room, his boss scribbled some revisions, and as Thompson headed for the door, Simon called out his name.

“Yes, sir?” asked Thompson, turning around.

“You realize, don’t you,” said Simon, “that the Italians intend to take Abyssinia?”

Thompson was “surprised and disconcerted,” almost dumbstruck by his superior’s cynicism.40

It wasn’t merely that Simon knew the Italians’ intent. He was quite willing to let them have what they wanted. His telegram to Barton in Addis Ababa gave a list of suggestions for the Emperor, all of them proposing concessions on Ethiopia’s part. None of that mattered; Mussolini’s reply to all this was already a blunt no. He kept Britain’s ambassador to Italy, Eric Drummond, cooling his heels for two weeks before granting an appointment, and when Drummond mentioned that the Emperor was prepared to make his case before the League, Mussolini shrugged and replied that if he did, “the consequences might be very serious.”41

Back in Geneva, Anthony Eden was also getting frustrated. Italy charged that companies were supplying arms to the Ethiopians through the port of Aden; cases marked “Machinery” but known to hold weapons were on their way to Berbera, but British Customs officials had allegedly redirected them to Djibouti. Eden was flabbergasted and checked with London. The “suspicious” cases didn’t have arms at all. They held furniture for the new palace at Addis Ababa and had been diverted only so they would arrive in time for a visit by the Crown Prince of Sweden. No one apparently had the presence of mind to demand how the Italians could know what was going on with inspections out of a British-controlled port.

Tired of these games, Eden advised the Foreign Office to let things take their course. They normally would. Haile Selassie turned down the British proposals, and Ethiopia’s League delegate formally lodged the application to be heard at the current Council session. The problem was that both Britain and France wanted to keep Italy happy. Italy would stay happy if it got what it wanted, but short of that, Britain and France could at least oblige Mussolini by making sure there were no diplomatic embarrassments. And how to do that? Well, the Italians didn’t want the dispute aired publicly on the Council floor. It was lucky, then, that there was still the Treaty of Friendship of 1928, and it set out methods for arbitration. In early January, both sides declared their “readiness to pursue the settlement of the [Walwal] incident in conformity with the spirit” of the treaty.

But aside from platitudes, there was no firm deadline for arbitration—and still no hearing for Ethiopia’s grievance on the Council floor.

“The result was acclaimed by press and public in many lands, but all we had gained was time,” Eden wrote in his memoirs.42

Time is relative even in diplomacy, and it wasn’t Britain that needed it. Less than two weeks later, Mussolini ordered the mobilization of about thirty thousand soldiers.


Chapter Three

A SILENT ROOM IN STRESA

For Mussolini, all was going according to plan. Though confident in his strategy, he was prudent enough to write De Bono in Asmara: “Even in view of possible international controversies (League of Nations, etc.) it is as well to hasten our tempo. For the lack of a few thousand men we lost the day at Adwa! We shall never make that mistake. I am willing to commit a sin of excess but never a sin of deficiency.”1

It was only a minor inconvenience to him that Ethiopia didn’t oblige his war by starting hostilities first. “The bulk of the indications and the messages intercepted allow us to suppose that the Negus does not wish to take the initiative of the encounter,” he told De Bono on February 26.2

No matter. If provocation wasn’t real, it could be manufactured. Two days later, the Foreign Ministry in Rome claimed that ninety thousand Ethiopian troops were deploying on the frontier of Italian Somaliland. In the international press corps of 1935, objective journalism dictated that you go seek a rebuttal from the Ethiopian legation, if one was available and forthcoming. Far more useful would have been if someone had tried to figure out if it was true. But then how could they? The Somali border was far away, far from where even a correspondent in Mogadishu—if by some miracle there was one—might be bothered.

De Bono went on with his preparations. Troops and laborers were arriving, barracks were to be built for hospitals and food stores, sheds were to be made for animals, and then there was the steady transfer of air forces. While some planes could be flown over, others were required to be passed disassembled through Cairo and Khartoum, where British and Egyptian authorities subjected them to strict inspection. De Bono found the British officials “uncivil,” but they couldn’t interfere with him, and soon the aircraft delivered to a camp at Otumlo could be assembled at a rate of six planes every forty-eight hours. By mid-March, the Italians had forty-three planes, both scouts and bombers, ready for their offensive. In Rome, David Darrah estimated that by the end of March, a million Italians had been called up to serve.

*  *  *

The Ethiopia Crisis happened in the 1930s, and this was a decade that was far more interesting and vibrant than it’s become in our popular imagination. Millions were unemployed, millions struggled, but newspapers still sold, many stores stayed open, music played on. In spite of their problems at home, people cared about what was happening in Ethiopia. This was the age before Bolshevism was bankrupt, when ideas very much mattered, when they were worth long and heated arguments, and maybe worth dying for—perhaps more so than the petty nationalism that had bequeathed nightmare visions of trench warfare and carnage.

In 1935, Christopher Isherwood published his take on Berlin decadence in Mr. Norris Changes Trains, one of the two books that would inspire the musical Cabaret. Robert Graves aired the dirty laundry of the Caesars for a second time in another unlikely bestseller, Claudius the God, while John Steinbeck made a name for himself with Tortilla Flat. In the 1930s, you had a wealth of movies to go to, each for a nickel—and many were far more risqué than we would expect from the era. In 1934, Tarzan and His Mate showed the Ape Man’s lover, Jane, swimming underwater in the nude. In 1932, before Paul Muni was cast as sainted versions of Louis Pasteur and Emile Zola, he was an escaped convict in a searing indictment of southern prison laws, I Am a Fugitive from a Chain Gang.

Yet in the midst of all the exciting cultural changes of movies and books, most of the men shaping British foreign policy in 1935 were born in the 1870s and 1880s, and they came of age as the Empire was at its zenith. Despite the extent and sheer staggering size of geography under British control, the public life of these decision makers took place in only a few blocks of central London, in the length from Trafalgar Square to Westminster Hall. It’s not difficult to see how, in high-ceilinged rooms with wingback leather chairs and gilt frames, complacency set in.

Ramsay MacDonald, the pacifist who once fought hard to keep Britain out of the Great War, led the coalition government. He was now prime minister only in name, and was widely considered to be senile. Winston Churchill thought he belonged in a rest home. The figure really manning the controls was Stanley Baldwin, who would take over as PM in a few months. Baldwin was the son of an industrialist and had been a successful lawyer in private life, but his meager gifts didn’t equal his own craving for power. Nicknamed “Dear Vicar” by his Tory female admirers, he wanted “peace at any price.”3

Many other Britons also wanted peace. In 1933, the Oxford Union debated the resolution “that this House will in no circumstances fight for its King and Country.” It passed 275 to 153. But refusing to fight for king and country didn’t imply that Britons wouldn’t fight for ideals. And as 1934 had come to a close, a revealing legislative step had been taken in the British Parliament. The Foreign Enlistment Act already made it illegal for a British citizen to enlist in a foreign army, but anyone could reasonably wonder: how do you enforce that? So an Order in Council was introduced to make sure a Briton couldn’t act on his conscience for Ethiopia.

Then in February 1935, as Ethiopia climbed higher on the front pages of newspapers around the world, there were voting surges in Great Britain for an interesting national referendum. The poll was conducted by the League of Nations Union, a peace lobby run out of offices in London’s Grosvenor Crescent. While it started out with the ponderous title, “National Declaration on the League of Nations and Armaments,” it soon came to be known as the Peace Ballot. There were only five questions asked, the first one being, “Should Great Britain remain a Member of the League of Nations?” But from the beginning of the year all the way to June when the results were announced, conservatives and liberals would debate its wording and its intent. The last question particularly caught the public’s attention:

Do you consider that, if a nation insists on attacking another, the other nations should combine to compel it to stop by

(a) economic and non-military measures?

(b) if necessary, military measures?4

Everyone, right-wingers and peace advocates, now interpreted this as meaning Ethiopia.

*  *  *

Tekle Hawaryat Tekle Mariyam submitted a fresh appeal to the League of Nations on March 17 in a letter addressed to Secretary-General Joseph Avenol. The Italians, argued Tekle Hawaryat, were not engaging in the spirit of “real negotiations.” But his thunder was stolen by Germany. The day before, Hitler had reintroduced compulsory military service, hoping to bulk up the Wehrmacht by more than half a million men. It was a clear violation of the Versailles Treaty. Britain fired off a protest, but then undermined its own effort. It cravenly asked the German government if it still wanted London’s representatives to come visit for scheduled talks in late March.

The answer was yes, and why not? Hitler, who once called the Reichstag (before it burned down) a “talking shop,” knew the reassurances he would offer would be completely worthless. He looked on with amusement as Britain, France, and Italy contradicted each other, trying to respond to his game. France didn’t like how Britain acted alone without consulting it. Mussolini stressed the threat of Hitler gobbling up Austria and reminded Britain and France of collective security talks coming up in its country.

Meanwhile, Anthony Eden was stuck defending the inconsistencies of his government. It was all well and good for the Labour Party and Opposition Liberals to talk of disarmament. He saw a wolf that wouldn’t be run off with harsh words. At a speech in Swindon, he compared membership in the League to belonging to a fire brigade: “Would you be wise to rely upon it exclusively in an emergency if some of the members had already given notice that they would not come to play their part when sent for?”5 Eden went on a juggernaut tour of Europe to keep the house from burning down. There were talks in Paris with Pierre Laval, who, with his signature mischief, claimed that Stanley Baldwin had confided to him that Eden was to become foreign secretary. Eden knew better; this “was not like him [Baldwin].”6 But he might have wondered by then why he didn’t have the job. John Simon didn’t seem very interested in it. In Berlin, Eden and Simon both fenced with Hitler, who was “fertile in excuses,”7 and as events demonstrated later, lied through his teeth about his interests in Austria and Czechoslovakia.

After a visit to Poland, the weather was so terrible with snow flurries and high winds that his plane suffered severe turbulence. After it put down, it was clear Eden had suffered a mild heart attack. Hitler actually offered him the use of his private plane to get him home, but in the end, doctor’s orders put him on a train. When he did finally manage to get home, the king arranged for his own heart specialist to look after Eden, and it was decided that the young, overworked diplomat needed six weeks’ bed rest.

So the one diplomat who could have put his foot down at a crucial turn wasn’t on the stage when the moment came. And that moment was coming in April, in a small resort town in Italy called Stresa, where an international conference was to be held.

*  *  *

The viewpoint on the Ethiopia Crisis in mainstream newspapers naturally depended on what you read. Those who bought the Evening Standard on February 13, for instance, were told that Ethiopia was “still a barbarous country.” The writer was Evelyn Waugh. “In the matter of abstract justice, the Italians have as much right to govern; in the matter of practical politics, it is certain that their government would be for the benefit of the Ethiopian Empire and for the rest of Africa.”8

Like today’s conflicts that prompt invasions of TV crews, the Ethiopia Crisis was now big enough that reporters and special correspondents made the long, arduous voyage to the Horn of Africa. One of the best and most perceptive of them was the Hungarian journalist Ladislas Farago, who was working at the time for a Berlin newspaper. In March, Haile Selassie granted his request for a personal interview, and after a drive up to the palace, the reporter was ushered into the Emperor’s study and allowed to wait. Through the windows, he spotted General Eric Virgin and other Swedish officers drilling Ethiopian troops. As for the Emperor, he was strolling pensively in the garden with a couple of lion cubs. Farago thought of Haile Selassie as an African Don Quixote, fighting a triple threat of the church, petty nobles, and the Italians. For this interview, the Emperor chose first to give his answers in Amharic, but he soon switched to French and waved away his interpreter.

At one point, Farago asked Haile Selassie what he thought would guarantee peace, not only for Europe, but Africa as well (he was sure that Africa wasn’t as advanced as the Emperor imagined, even though Farago had only been on its soil for a matter of weeks). Haile Selassie’s answer shocked the journalist so much he reminded readers that he was quoting the Emperor verbatim. He may not have realized it, but in the response, he was hearing one of the earliest expressions of Pan-Africanism.

“If the European powers were to renounce their political and economic interests in Africa,” promised the Emperor, “the half-independent native peoples would enact modern laws that would eventually make them independent and responsible members of the League of Nations. Then peaceful cooperation would be possible in Africa. The League of Nations has the necessary organization for guaranteeing safety and for supplying help to the member states.”9

While Farago was being surprised by African self-determination, a competitor was out getting an alternative view. Geoffrey Harmsworth was another special correspondent to East Africa, but he was working for London’s Daily Mail, and his first stop was Massawa, Eritrea’s capital. Despite being the nephew of Mail founder Lord Northcliffe and a product of the privileged Harrow school, he seemed to want to make it on his own. He once felled logs in Newfoundland and served as the ghostwriter on a tell-all autobiography that landed his actress client in a couple of libel actions. But Harmsworth wasn’t “roughing it” in Africa—not many foreign correspondents travel with a valet.

Harmsworth spent several bored days in Asmara, passing by the Government House that “looked like a small and rather dowdy colonial cousin of Buckingham Palace, guarded by two native sentries in their scarlet tunics.”10 While he waited in vain for an interview with General De Bono, he noticed the endless convoy of loud trucks along the Corso del Re; planes droned above the city day and night, which seemed at least to impress the locals.11 Finally, Harmsworth moved on to Aden. He had just left the telegraph office, having sent off a dispatch to his editor, when he spotted a familiar face on the quay, a tall man sporting a sombrero. It was George Bernard Shaw; playwright, contrarian, fervent Socialist. Harmsworth had met him once before. Shaw chatted amiably with him and then asked what he was doing in Asmara.

“Looking for a war,” answered Harmsworth. Either he didn’t ask, or Shaw didn’t volunteer what he was doing there.

“You’re a bit too soon,” Shaw told the young reporter. “But it’s bound to come. Mussolini means blood. Don’t forget if it is white versus black, we shall have to come in with the Italians.”12

*  *  *

Stresa sits on one of the Borromeo Islands off the western shore of Lake Maggiore. With snow still on the mountains, April was the off-season for the sleepy town, but the streets were decorated with flowers and flags.

American reporter David Darrah made sure he got in the day before the conference. He was used to traveling Italy and sharing it with the sycophantic national press, but now an army of new press arrivals descended on Stresa. It was a media circus that resembled those of modern day. The pressmen booked rooms in one of the large hotels that faced the lake, while diplomats stayed at another. The Duce himself was to stay in the Villa Borromeo, a medieval castle on Isola Bella, a small island in the lake about a five-minute rowing trip from the shore.

Outnumbering all the foreign delegations and newspapermen was an army of police. Darrah estimated about twelve hundred special plain-clothes operatives, a hundred motorcycle cops, and even airplane police “watching the skies to prevent any anti-Fascist planes from coming down over the lake by way of Switzerland to scatter pamphlets from the sky.”13 Blackshirt squads patrolled while police were dispatched at hundred-yard intervals along the railway tracks from Stresa to the end of the Simplon Tunnel. On April 11, a hydroplane dramatically flew onto the lake near the island, and Mussolini arrived with his son-in-law, Count Galeazzo Ciano, and his Foreign Affairs minister, Fulvio Suvich. Except for greeting his diplomatic visitors and attending the banquets at the officials’ hotel, the Duce stayed bunkered within the Villa as the hordes of reporters lay a quiet siege, staring pointlessly through their binoculars at the castle. Mussolini stayed in a room once occupied by Napoleon.
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